## Sex chromosomes in willows

# Evolutionary studies of the ZW sex chromosome system in Salix viminalis

Pascal Pucholt

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences, Department of Plant Biology, Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2016 Cover: "The sequence of sex determination". Colored dots, representing genomic sequence from the *Salix viminalis* sex determination region (Green: A, Red: T, Blue: G, Yellow: C), form – by variation of dot size and color intensity – the image of a single male (left) and female (right) flower of *S. viminalis*. The flower images are extracted from Thomé & Müller (1886, Tafel 171, public domain).

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8729-6 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8730-2 © 2016 Pascal Pucholt, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2016

## Sex chromosomes in willows. Evolutionary studies of the ZW sex chromosome system in *Salix viminalis*

#### Abstract

Sexual reproduction is found in most eukaryotes and has in the majority of animal species led to the evolution of separate sexes. In contrast, only 5-6% of all angiospersms are dioecious with female and male flowers on separate individuals. Interestingly, dioecy has evolved hundreds of times independently and at different timepoints in angiosperms. The development of separate sexes requires a sex determination mechanism, which often is located on sex chromosomes. The independent evolution of numerous sex determination and sex chromosome systems in angiosperms allows for studies of processes involved in different stages of their evolution. The ratio between male and female individuals in a dioecious population is expected to be equal due to frequency dependent selection. Distorted sex ratios are however common in many plant and animal species.

The overall aim of my thesis was to investigate the sex chromosome system in the dioecious, perennial willow species Salix viminalis that both in natural populations as well as in lab populations often displays female biased sex ratios. Although dioecy evolved from hermaphroditic ancestors before the split between Salix and its sister genus Populus, we found that the two lineages have different sex chromosomes (Populus: Chr. 19, Salix: Chr. 15). As we found no evidence for translocations between these chromosomes, it is most likely that two different sex determination mechanims are present in the two lineages, meaning that sex chromosome turnover has occurred recently. We furthermore determined that S. viminalis is female heterogametic (females Z/W, males Z/Z) and has a single sex determination locus on chromosome 15. The W homolog of the sex determination region contains hemizygous, female specific sequences and the SNP density in this region is increased in females relative to males, witnessing of lost recombination between the Z/W homologs. We did not find a Fast-Z effect or major degeneration of the W chromosome, suggesting a recent evolution. In fact this sex chromosome system is among the youngest observed so far. Based on our data, the insertion of repetitive sequence and sex specific gene expression appear to be among the first processes to happen in sex chromosome evolution. We also determined that female biased sex ratios in S. viminalis are likely caused by an allelic incompatibility between Z homologs which results in the lack of one expected male genotype, reducing the male frequency in the population.

My studies thus extended our knowledge on processes involved in sex chromosome evolution and evolution of biased sex ratios in *S. viminalis*. However, given how common these phenomena are, results from my research can be applied to most organisms with genetic sex determination.

Keywords: sex chromosomes, Salicaceae, sex determination, sex ratio, GWAS, QTL, GBS, Salix

*Author's address:* Pascal Pucholt, SLU, Department of Plant Biology, Linnean Centre for Plant Biology, P.O. Box 7080, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* pascal.pucholt@slu.se

#### Könskromosomer i viden. Evolutionära studier av ZWkönskromosomsystemet i Salix viminalis

#### Sammanfattning

Sexuell reproduktion finns i de flesta eukaryoter och har lett till att majoriteten av alla djurarter har evolverat separata kön. Dock är separata kön ett relativt sällsynt fenomen bland fröväxter (angiospermer) och förekommer i endast 5-6% av alla arter (växten kallas då för dioik eller tvåbyggare). Bland angiospermer har dock separata kön utvecklats hundratals gånger oberoende av varandra och vid olika tidpunkter. Utvecklingen av honor och hanar hos dioika arter kräver som regel en könsbestämningsmekanism som ofta är positionerad på specifika könskromosomer. Då olika könsbestämnings- och könskromosomsystem har uppstått så många gånger bland angiospermer utgör dessa ett enastående system för studier av evolutionära processer involverade i evolutionen av könskromosomer i olika utvecklingsstadier. Hos arter med separata kön förväntar man sig att en population har ungefär lika många honor och hanar, det vill säga att könskvoten är lika med 1. Det antas att en jämn könskvot är ett resultat av frekvensberoende selektion. Trots detta så förekommer skeva könskvoter i många djur- och växtarter.

Det huvudsakliga syftet med min avhandling var att studera könskromosomsystemet i den dioika, perenna videarten Salix viminalis som intressant nog ofta både i naturliga populationer och i labbpopulationer uppvisar en skev könskvot (då med flera honor än hanar). Trots att separata kön evolverade från hermafroditiska anfäder innan Salixsläktet separerade från systersläktet Populus, har arter i dessa två släkten olika könskromosomer (Populus: Chr. 19, Salix: Chr. 15). Eftersom vi inte hittade några tecken på translokationer mellan dessa två kromosomer är det rimligt att anta att dessa två släkten har olika könsbestämningsmekanismer, vilket pekar på att dessa nyss evolverade (ett fenomen som kallas för snabb "turnover"). Vi har också visat att honor hos S. viminalis är heterogametisk och har en Z- och en W-homolog i ett könsbestämningslokus på kromosom 15 (hanar har istället två Z-homologer). W-homologen består bl.a. av en hemizygotisk, honspecifik sekvens och mängden av den genetiska variationen är förhöjd i honor jämfört med hanar, vilket tyder på en avsaknad av rekombination mellan W- och Zhomologen i honor. Vi fann dock inga tecken på "Fast-Z-effekten" eller storskalig förfall av W-homologen, vilket tyder på att könskromosomsystemet i S. viminalis är bland de yngsta som hittills har beskrivits. Våra resultat visar att en ansamling av repetitiva DNAsekvenser och en förändring mot könsspecifika genuttryck är bland de första processer som sker när könskromosomer evolverar från ett autosomalt kromosompar. Vi visade också att den honliga skeva könskvoten i S. viminalis troligtvis uppstår på grund av allelinkompatibilitet mellan två Z-homologer, vilket resultarar i att en förväntat hangenotyp saknas, vilket leder till en reduktion av hanfrekvensen i populationen.

Mina studier har ökat kunskapen om mekanismer involverade i könskromosomevolution och evolutionen av skeva könskvoter i *S. viminalis*. Men då dessa fenomen är så pass vanligt förekommande, kan resultat från min forskning tillämpas på de flesta organismer med genetisk könsbestämning.

What makes it difficult is that research is immersion in the unknown. We just don't know what we're doing. [...] If we don't feel stupid it means we're not really trying.

- Martin A. Schwartz (2008)

## Contents

List of Publications			
Abb	reviati	ons	13
1	Introd	luction	15
1.1	Sexual reproduction		16
1.2	Dioecy and the evolution of separate sexes in plants		17
	1.2.1	Dioecy via gynodioecy	17
	1.2.2	Dioecy via monoecy-paradioecy	19
	1.2.3	Other paths to dioecy	19
1.3	Sex determination		20
	1.3.1	Sex determination systems and sex chromosomes	20
	1.3.2	Molecular mechanisms of sex determination	23
1.4	Sex chromosome evolution		24
	1.4.1	Reduced recombination	25
	1.4.2	Degeneration of sex chromosomes	27
	1.4.3	Sexualization of the recombining sex chromosome	29
	1.4.4	Sex chromosome turnover	30
1.5	Deviations from equal sex ratios		32
1.6	The Salicaceae family		34
	1.6.1	Sex determination in the Populus genus	36
	1.6.2	Previous knowledge on sex determination in the Salix genus	37
1.7	Next g	eneration sequencing and big data as research tool	38
2	Aims of the study		41
3	Resul	ts and discussion	43
3.1	Female heterogamety and chromosome 15 as sex chromosome in		
	Salix	viminalis (I, II & IV)	43
3.2	Sex chromosome divergence and the evolutionary history of the		
	S. vim	inalis sex determination system (III)	46
3.3	Z chromosome incompatibility as a basis for biased sex ratios (IV)		46
3.4	Genome structure of <i>S. viminalis</i> (IV)		47
4	Conclusion		49
5	Future perspectives		51
Refe	eferences		

#### Acknowledgements

## List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I **Pascal Pucholt**<sup>\*</sup>, Ann-Christin Rönnberg-Wästljung<sup>\*</sup> and Sofia Berlin (2015): Single locus sex determination and female heterogamety in the basket willow (*Salix viminalis* L.). *Heredity* 114, 575-583
- II Henrik R. Hallingbäck\*, Pascal Pucholt\*, Estelle Proux-Wéra, Allison Churcher, Björn Nystedt, Ann-Christin Rönnberg-Wästljung<sup>6</sup> and Sofia Berlin<sup>6</sup>: Genome-wide association mapping uncovers female hemizygous regions on the W chromosome in willows. (manuscript).
- III **Pascal Pucholt**, Alison E. Wright, Lei Liu Conze, Judith E. Mank and Sofia Berlin: Early stages of sex chromosome evolution in the ancient dioecious willow *Salix viminalis*. (under review).
- IV Pascal Pucholt, Henrik R. Hallingbäck and Sofia Berlin: Allelic incompatibility can explain female biased sex ratios in dioecious plants. (under review).

Paper I is published as open access article and licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License. It is reproduced here in agreement with this license.

\*, \*: equal contribution

The contribution of Pascal Pucholt to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Pascal analyzed the data on recombination rates, performed syntheny analyses between the *Salix viminalis* genetic map and physical maps of other species, created the figures and was taking part in the interpretation of the results and the manuscript writing.
- II Pascal analyzed the linkage by Fisher's exact test, performed lab work, did genome analysis and took part in writing the manuscript.
- III Pascal contributed to the design of the research, performed the lab work, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the other authors.
- IV Pascal contributed to the design of the research, performed the experiments, analyzed data on marker segregation, generated the linkage map and wrote the manuscript in collaboration with the other authors.

These additional papers were written during the course of my doctoral studies but are not included in this thesis:

- Johan Fogelqvist, Alla V. Verkhozina, Alexander I. Katyshev, **Pascal Pucholt**, Christina Dixelius, Ann Christin Rönnberg-Wästljung, Martin Lascoux and Sofia Berlin (2015): Genetic and morphological evidence for introgression between three species of willows. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 15:193
- **Pascal Pucholt**, Per Sjödin, Martin Weih, Ann Christin Rönnberg-Wästljung and Sofia Berlin (2015): Genome-wide transcriptional and physiological responses to drought stress in leaves and roots of two willow genotypes. *BMC Plant Biology* 15:244
- Srilakshmy L. Harikrishnan<sup>\*</sup>, **Pascal Pucholt**<sup>\*</sup> and Sofia Berlin (2015): Sequence and gene expression evolution of paralogous genes in willows. *Scientific Reports* 5:18662

\*: equal contribution

## Abbreviations

AFLP amplified fragment length polymorphism
CMS cytoplasmic male sterility
GBS Genotyping-by-Sequencing
GWAS genome-wide association study
LAMP loop mediated isothermal amplification
NGS next generation sequencing
PAR pseudoautosomal region
RAPD randomly amplified polymorphic DNA
SNP single nucleotide polymorphism

### 1 Introduction

Sexual reproduction is found in most eukaryotes and it is based on separate female and male gametes (Bachtrog *et al.*, 2014). This separation is extended – so to say – to an organism level in species with separate sexes with either male or female organs in different individuals. Separate sexes are the predominant state in most species of the animal kingdom (Jarne & Auld, 2006) and the functional sex of individuals is in many cases regulated by genetic factors located on sex chromosomes with a sex specific segregation pattern.

In flowering plants (angiosperms), separate sexes (dioecy) are the exception, found in only 5-6% of all species (Renner, 2014). In contrast, most angiosperm species have hermaphroditic flowers with both male and female functions which is considered to be the ancestral state. Phylogenetic data indicates that dioecy has evolved many times (851 - 5000 (Renner, 2014)) independently from hermaphroditic ancestors and sex chromosomes, which are found in several dioecious species, are often evolutionary young (Charlesworth, 2015, and references therein). Angiosperms constitute therefore exceptional systems to study the mechanisms underlying the evolution of separate sexes, sex chromosomes and sex determination mechanisms.

Without other selective pressures it is expected that frequency dependent selection maintains an equal ratio between male and female individuals (Fisher, 1930; Lloyd, 1974; Hardy, 2002). Thus, understanding the background to distorted sex ratios – which are found in many plant and animal species (Field *et al.*, 2013; Pipoly *et al.*, 2015) – will reveal selective forces and molecular mechanisms that shape the interaction between the sexes. Non-Mendelian inheritance of sex chromosomes can be the driving force behind biased sex ratios but alternative mechanisms are presented as well.

Willows (*Salix*) are woody angiosperm trees and shrubs that are nearly universally dioecious with homomorphic sex chromosomes. The *Salix* genus comprises a large number of species (400-550 (The Plant List, 2013; Renner, 2014)) of which many can be easily propagated clonally and high seed counts in a number of species allow the generation of large study populations. In multiple species the sex ratio is uneven, often with a surplus of

females. *Salix* and *Populus* are sister genera in the Salicaceae plant family and show high genetic and genomic similarity. Interestingly, the sex determination systems are not shared between the genera and different chromosome pairs have evolved into sex chromosomes in the two taxa, indicating turnover of the sex chromosomes since the split of the genera. Therefore studies on the sex chromosomes in willows are highly interesting and can give insights into their complex evolutionary history and the background to sex chromosome turnover as well as the genetic basis for biased sex ratios.

This thesis starts with an introductory part, providing a broad background to the evolutionary context in which sex chromosomes evolve and an overview over mechanisms that can lead to biased sex ratios. The results of my studies are thereafter summarized in an overview over the articles which are included in the thesis in the form of separate scientific manuscripts in the last section.

#### 1.1 Sexual reproduction

Sexual reproduction can be defined as any means of reproduction that involves a step of meiosis (Beukeboom & Perrin, 2014, p. 3). Meiosis is thought to be an evolutionary adaption for DNA repair (Bernstein *et al.*, 2011; Mirzaghaderi & Hörandl, 2016) and a way to reset epigenetic signaling and thus rejuvanating the cell line (Gorelick & Carpinone, 2009). The recombination of genetic elements from different genomes that generates new allelic combinations and thus provides the basis for selection is, however, usually considered the most important effect of meiosis (Weismann, 1889; Burt, 2000).

In the light of the Red Queen Hypothesis (Jaenike, 1978) and in the context of an ever changing environment the rapid generation of new genetic combinations is beneficial. It also counteracts the Hill-Robertson interference (Hill & Robertson, 1966) in finite populations. Experimental evolution in yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) confirms the importance of sex for adaption to new, challenging environments (Goddard *et al.*, 2005).

However, recombination through sexual reproduction can also disrupt favorable genetic combinations and in this way it might reduce the fitness of a population under the rare condition of constant selection pressure (de Visser & Elena, 2007; Otto, 2009).

Importantly, sexual reproduction has, in most animal species and in some plant species, led to the evolution of separate sexes, and if sex determination is genetically controlled, sex chromosomes often evolve. In plants, the evolution of sex chromosomes is according to theory (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978) tightly linked with the evolution of dioecy.

#### Dioecy and the evolution of separate sexes in plants

Dioecy, the complete separation of sexes into different individuals with unisexual flowers, is found in only 5-6% of angiosperm species (Renner, 2014) which are however spread over a large part of the angiosperm phylogenetic tree (43% of all families) (Renner, 2014) and thus dioecy must have evolved from an ancestral hermaphrodictic stage hundreds or even thousands of times (Charlesworth, 2002; Renner, 2014).

There are multiple selective forces that are speculated to be involved in the evolution of dioecy. Obviously, dioecy ensures cross pollination to 100% and thus inbreeding avoidance is likely to be a driving force in its evolution (Baker, 1959; Maynard Smith, 1978). At the same time the separation of sexes allows for a specialization for only one reproductive function, and selection for optimal resource allocation might thus be involved in the evolution of dioecy (Charnov *et al.*, 1976; Freeman *et al.*, 1997). Additionally pollen discounting can reduce the paternal fitness of a (partially) selfing plant (Kohn & Barrett, 1994; Harder & Barrett, 1995) by retaining pollen at structures in the same individual (e.g. stigma) which is therefore not released for cross pollination. This effect is reduced by dioecy. All of these forces might be involved simultaneously in the evolution of dioecy and do not exclude each other (Baker, 1984; Charlesworth & Guttman, 1999).

The evolution of complete sexual separation from hermaphrodites requires two major changes in floral structure. On the one hand co-sexual flowers need to change to unisexuality and on the other hand those unisexual flowers need to be separated to different individuals. For flowers to become unisexual, they need to abandon the development of either their male or female organs, a process that can happen during different stages in the development and that likely involves changes in at least two genes (see below). It is unlikely that all these changes happen simultaneously (Ainsworth, 2000) and thus dioecy is expected to evolved through intermediate stages. Both monoecy and gynodioecy are likely candidates for such intermediate stages (Barrett, 2002).

#### 1.2.1 Dioecy via gynodioecy

A transition from hermaphroditic to one type of unisexual individuals is possible with one single mutational change (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978). If a mutation leads to male (or female) sterility in all flowers, this individual will be functionally female (or male). However, the individuals in the population that do not express this new mutation will still be hermaphroditic. A population with both female and hermaphroditic individuals is gynodi-

oecious while a population with both males and hermaphroditic individuals is androdioecious. Due to resource limitations, high pollen output will limit the number of ovules produced by a cosexual plant and vice versa. But siring opportunities are presumably limited mainly by ovule availability (Charlesworth & Guttman, 1999, p. 34) which means that higher pollen output from a pure male individual – gained by resource reallocation – might provide less fitness benefit than higher seed output gained by a pure female plant. Therefore gynodioecy is expected to be selectively more advantageous than androdioecy. This theoretical prediction is supported by the observation that many more gynodioecious than androdioecious species exist (Charlesworth & Guttman, 1999, p. 32; Renner, 2014) and that the phylogenetic distribution of the androdioecious species indicate that it is likely a state derived from dioecy (Charlesworth & Guttman, 1999, p. 33; Barrett, 2002; Pannell, 2002). Field tests could show that the increased fitness of females over hermaphrodites can be strong enough to grant them selective advantage (Schultz & Ganders, 1996; Sakai et al., 1997).

If the fraction of females in a population increases over time, pollen can become limited and thus the remaining hermaphrodictic individuals can gain higher fitness by reallocating resources to pollen production and increase their male role in reproduction. This process can then lead to the complete separation of the sexes and to the evolution of dioecy (Barrett, 2002). The combination of female sterilizing and male sterilizing mutations on a homologous chromosome pair can initialize the evolution of sex chromosomes (see below).

As the evolution of dioecy through gynodioecy is based on a mutation with a strong effect leading to male sterility and potentially multiple subsequent mutations with weaker effects, gradually leading to female sterility, inconstant sex expression (e.g. (genetic) males with few female flowers) is expected to be found more often in males (Lloyd, 1980). Additionally, inconstant sex expression in females might lead to the total loss of outbreeding fitness gain (i.e. few pollen-producing flowers might self-fertilize most ovules of an inconstant female) while (selfed) seed set of a small number of seeds in a male plant might not be under strong negative selection (Lloyd, 1980; Webb, 1999). Thus, gynodioecy as an intermediate stage can be assumed if the molecular mechanism identified through the analysis of the sex determination system of a dioecious species fit these predictions.

In principal, dioecy can evolve through a very similar pathway from a monoecious (separate male and female flowers on the same individual) population. In this case a single mutation with strong effect can lead to the abortion of all male flowers and thus to pure female plants. Subsequently the remaining monoecious individuals undergo masculinization by reducing the number of female flowers (Webb, 1999; Dorken & Barrett, 2004).

#### 1.2.2 Dioecy via monoecy-paradioecy

Both early studies (Lewis, 1942) and recent analyses of a large dataset (Renner, 2014) found a strong correlation between the presence of dioecy and monoecy in plant families. This might indicate that monoecy (separate male and female flowers on the same individual) could be a transitional state in the evolution of dioecy and since in monoecy unisexual flowers have already evolved, the transition to dioecy might be facilitated. In the monoecy-paradioecy pathway the transition from monoecy to dioecy is expected to happen gradually by changing the male to female flower ratio within individuals (Barrett, 2002; Dorken & Barrett, 2004). In this scenario a single key gene is thought to regulate the flower sex ratio and diversifying selection can lead to alternative alleles of this gene to produce pure males or pure females (Renner, 2016; Charlesworth, 2016). The chromosome with this key gene can develop as sex chromosome (see below).

Due to the incremental change towards dioecy, in this pathway the fitness gains through resource reallocation or inbreeding avoidance can be incremental as well and the immediate two-fold fitness increase required for the gynodioecy pathway is not needed (Lloyd, 1980).

There are several examples where dioecy likely has occurred from monoecy through the intermediate paradioecy state (Lloyd, 1975, 1981; Webb, 1999) indicating the relevance of this pathway in at least some cases. But dioecy can also evolve from monoecy by mechanisms similar to the gynodioecy pathway (see above) (Webb, 1999; Dorken & Barrett, 2004) and the strong correlation of monoecy and dioecy found on family level does not hold on a genus level, indicating that the correlation might be partly due to a common potential for the formation of unisexual flowers (Baker, 1984). It is therefore not sure how common this pathway is.

#### 1.2.3 Other paths to dioecy

Plants have developed different mechanisms to prevent self fertilization and some of them might give rise to dioecy by increased diversification. Both temporal separation of the ripening of male and female organs (dichogamy / duodichogamy / heterodichogay) (Bertin & Newman, 1993; Webb, 1999; Renner *et al.*, 2007) and spatial separation of sexual organs within a flower (herkogamy) in different morphs (distyly/heterostyly) (Webb & Lloyd, 1986; Belaoussoff & Shore, 1995; Pailler *et al.*, 1998; Webb, 1999) reduce selfing and could incrementally evolve into female and male morphs specialized for pollen or seed production. Some evidence for such pathways is found (Pailler

*et al.*, 1998; Webb, 1999), however, little is know about the selective mechanisms and the genetic basis involved in these transition (Barrett, 2002).

While studies on the evolution of dioecy often focus predominantly on the selective forces and morphological changes that are involved, these changes must be based on molecular mechanisms and genetic or environmental factors that regulate the distinct morphology of males and females and thus determine sex. Genetic sex determination factors are the basis for the evolution of sex chromosomes.

#### 1.3 Sex determination

#### 1.3.1 Sex determination systems and sex chromosomes

The mechanisms of sex determination has fascinated scientists and philosophers for a long time from Aristotle (384-322 BC) (cited in Mittwoch, 2005) to today.

Many of the speculations in the early times were aimed to understand how sex is determined in humans. Here, for a long time, environmental factors such as diet during pregnancy, but also for example the side of the womb in which the embryo develops were postulated as causative factors of sex determination (Mittwoch, 2005, and references therein).

In 1891 Herman Henking described for the first time a sex chromosome in the fire wasp Pyrrhocoris apterus as an element that behaved strangely during meiotic divisions (Henking, 1891). As he was unaware of its function he termed it the "element X" which lead to the naming of a type of sex chromosomes as "X chromosomes". In 1905 Netty Stevens then described the heterochromosomes of the mealworm Tenebrio molitor and demonstrated that in this species one out of 20 chromosomes in males is smaller than the other 19 while females posses 20 chromosomes of equal size. She concludes that "it seems certain that an egg fertilized by a spermatozoön which contains the small chromosome must produce a male" (Stevens, 1905) and thus she discovered the common genetic X/Y male heterogametic sex determination system. It was only several years after this finding that Painter (1921) described the human X/Y sex chromosome systems and laid the grounds to understand the genetic basis of sex in our species and the first sex chromosome system in a dioecious plant (Silene latifolia) was discovered soon thereafter (Blackburn, 1923).

The discovery of heteromorphic X/Y sex chromosomes was a major step in understanding sex determination systems. But over time it became obvious that there are many different and variable sex determination systems in different animal and plant species and not one single sex determination system universal to all species with separate sexes. Even within apparently similar systems as the male heterogametic X/Y system, found in many species, either the Y chromosome can play the active role and contain a dominant factor that leads to maleness of the bearer as for example in mammals (Goodfellow & Lovell-Badge, 1993) or papaya (*Carica papaya*) (Wang *et al.*, 2012; Wu & Moore, 2015) or the absence of a second X chromosome decides over the development as a male, and the dose between X and autosomes is the actual determining factor as in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Hodgkin, 1990).

Similarly, an active factor on one of the sex chromosomes can lead to femaleness as for example in the silkworm (*Bombys mori*) (Fujii & Shimada, 2007) and thus individuals with two identical sex chromosomes without this factor (denoted as Z/Z) develop as males and females are the heterogametic sex (Z/W). Alternatively, also in female heterogametic systems the Z to autosome ratio can determine sex, a model found for example in chicken (Smith *et al.*, 2009).

While genetic sex determination is most common in those species with known mechanisms (Bachtrog *et al.*, 2014), there is even some truths to be found in the ancient hypotheses that attributed sex determination to conditions during pregnancy. Environmental stimuli like temperature, photoperiod and social factors can indeed determine offspring sex in different species (e.g. Bull, 1980; Warner *et al.*, 1996; Walker, 2005; Guler *et al.*, 2012; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2012; Merchant-Larios & Díaz-Hernández, 2012; Czerwinski *et al.*, 2016). And even random expression variance of key genes in the sex determination pathway could be enough to determine an individuals functional sex and thus sex determination might even have a random component in some species (Perrin, 2016).

In plants, environmental effects on the sex ratio (i.e. the relative number of males and females in a population) are well documented (see below), stable determination of offspring sex by environmental factors might be however of minor relevance since in this kingdom sex specific phenotypes – in most species – are limited to flowers which are generated from the meristems late in life and thus sex is – so to say – determined many times in environmental diverse conditions during a plants lifetime. Environmental sex determination should therefore not give rise to individuals with the same sexual function in every reproductive season. In some cases however transitions from one sex to another are observed during the lifetime of plants. Such labile sex expression can be regulated by the environment (Freeman *et al.*, 1980; Zimmerman, 1991; Korpelainen, 1998; Dorken & Barrett, 2004) as well as the extend to which hermaphrodite individuals invest in their female vs. male function (Freeman *et al.*, 1980; Korpelainen, 1998; Sánchez Vilas & Pannell, 2014).

But also with genetic sex determination variations from the system of distinct nuclear sex chromosomes are observed. Cytoplasmic male sterility (CMS) is caused by genes transmitted through cytoplasmic organelles, often mitochondria, and thus shows always a non-Mendelian maternal segregation pattern which facilitate its spread in the population (Dufay et al., 2009). The associated spread of pure female individuals in the population can create the selective environment for a (nuclear) male fertility restorer gene to emerge (Frank, 1989; van Damme et al., 2004; Delph et al., 2007). In fact CMS is speculated to be the most common mechanism underlying gynodioecy (Frank, 1989; Hanson, 1991; Klaas & Olson, 2006; Dufay et al., 2009) and it is found in many plant species (van Damme et al., 2004; Klaas & Olson, 2006; Dufay et al., 2009; Chen & Liu, 2014; Ashman et al., 2015) with some indications of a cryptic CMS locus even in A. thaliana, suggesting a gynodioecious past of this highly selfing hermaphroditic species (Gobron et al., 2013). But importantly, due to the maternal segregation of the cytoplasms, cytoplasmic female-sterile mutations would prevent the spread of themselves and thus pure cytoplasmic sex determination can not lead to complete separation of sexes.

Sex can also be determined by multiple alleles in one locus or multiple loci on different chromosomes where one factor can be dominant over other factors or through additive and epistatic effects (Kosswig, 1964; Moore & Roberts, 2013; Bachtrog *et al.*, 2014). Such systems are found for example in pygmy mice (*Mus minutoides*) (Veyrunes *et al.*, 2010) and cichlid fish (*Metriaclima* spp.) (Ser *et al.*, 2010) and polygenic sex determination was also described for the model species *Danio rerio* (zebrafish) (Bradley *et al.*, 2011; Liew *et al.*, 2012; Nagabhushana & Mishra, 2016). However, a study on wild zebrafish lines indicate one strong sex determination locus that was potentially lost during domestication (Wilson *et al.*, 2014; Nagabhushana & Mishra, 2016). In several plant species, multiple nuclear loci are described to interact to restore CMS (Belhassen *et al.*, 1991; Koelewijn & van Damme, 1995; Ashman *et al.*, 2015). However, it is not clear if polygenic sex determination in sex determination systems are evolutionary stable or if they reflect a transition in sex determination systems (Moore & Roberts, 2013).

Finally sex can be determined by the absence or presence of the whole sex chromosome (XX/X0 system) as found for example in nematods (Hodgkin, 1987) or by the ploidy (haploid or diploid) as for example found in hymnopteran insects (Dzierzon, 1845, as cited in Gempe *et al.*, 2009; Verhulst *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.3.2 Molecular mechanisms of sex determination

While the mode of sex determination (e.g. X/Y or Z/W) is identified in an ever increasing number of species (Renner, 2014; The Tree of Sex Consortium, 2014; Gamble *et al.*, 2015) the detection of the underlying molecular mechanism and regulatory pathways of sex determination are known in much fewer species. In well established model systems, sex determining genes were detected years ago (mammals *SRY* (Gubbay *et al.*, 1990; Sinclair *et al.*, 1990; Li *et al.*, 2014), birds *DMRT1* (Smith *et al.*, 2009)) but the molecular sex determining mechanisms in dioecious plant species start to emerge only now.

Akagi *et al.* (2014) studied for example the male heterogametic (X/Y) sex determination system of Caucasian persimmon *Diospyros lotus* and revealed the key regulator for purely male flowers *OGI*. The genus *Diospyros* contains ca. 475 species of subtropical and tropical trees that, based on current knowledge, all are dioecious. Male flowers have stamens that are fertile but the pistils are rudimentary and arrested. In female flowers the anthers are developed but defective and do normally not produce pollen grains. By screening pooled sequencing data for male specific genomic regions and analyzing RNA expression data, the authors could establish a list of candidate genes and demonstrated that the small RNA OGI is the female sterilizing factor and suppresses the expression of the MeGI mRNA.

For the naturally monoecious melon plant *Cucumis melo*, Boualem *et al.* (2015) unraveled a cascade of several transcription factors – namely *CmACS11*, *CmWIP1* and *CmACS-7* – mediating ethylene production and they could show that the controlled expression of these factors regulates the expressed sex of flowers. Deactivation of *CmWIP1* due to epigenetic changes – triggered by the insertion of a transposable element into the promoter region of the gene – leads to plants with only female flowers (Martin *et al.*, 2009) while a non-functional *CmACS-7* leads to plants with only male flowers (Boualem *et al.*, 2008). Based on this knowledge and together with the discovery of the key-regulator *CmACS11*, Boualem *et al.* (2015) could generate an artificial but stable dioecious line of *C. melo* with homozygous recessive *Cmacs11/Cmacs11* in all plants and heterozygous *CmWIP1/Cmwip1* males and homozygous *Cmwip1/Cmwip1* females.

These examples show that in dioecious plants, different regulatory pathways can lead to the separation of sexes. In fact, in plants, any gene that is required for the successful development of stamen or carpel could act as sex determining factor or being a direct target of that factor. Changes in function or expression pattern of such genes could easily lead to male or female sterility (e.g. Lewis, 1941; Robinson-Beers *et al.*, 1992; Byzova *et al.*, 1999;

Stintzi & Browse, 2000). Gene expression studies in Arabidopis thaliana revealed hundreds of genes to be specifically expressed in stamen as well as carpels (Wellmer et al., 2004), highlighting the large number of genes involved in the development of these tissues. Thus the number of potential developmental processes leading to sex determination is huge, especially if the flowers start to develop as perfect hermaphroditic flowers and organ abortion happens during the development. It appears that there is not even a preferred stage – from organ initiation to post-meiosis – at which organ abortion is happening among the systems studied so far (Diggle et al., 2011). But as floral organ identity is determined by a conserved set of genes described in the ABC model (Haughn & Somerville, 1988) this set of genes and their regulators are key candidates for sex determination genes in species where the "undesirable" organ is not initiated. Confirmatory for this hypothesis, sex determination in the dioecious species Thalictrum dioicum and Spinacia oleracea, which only initiate one type of sexual organs, has been linked to the regulation of B class genes by yet unknown factors (Di Stilio et al., 2005; Pfent et al., 2005; Sather et al., 2010).

So with the independent evolution of dioecy in hundreds of cases (Ming *et al.*, 2011; Renner, 2014) in the angiosperm clade it is quite likely that even hundreds of different systems of molecular sex determination exist and knowledge of the sex determination system in one species is only a weak indication of the genes that are involved in sex determination in another species. But by understanding the diversity of plant sex determination systems it will be possible to determine if general patterns are present and to fully understand evolutionary forces that lead to the evolution of separate sexes.

#### 1.4 Sex chromosome evolution

With an enormous variety in sex determination mechanisms, it might appear as if independent evolution of sex determination results in unique systems with little shared characteristics. However, sex chromosome evolution follows a similar pattern in many lineage from different kingdoms and both male and female heterogamety. This is of no surprise as the two phenomena: sex determination mechanism and evolution of sex chromosomes are connected but not identical.

Sex chromosomes are chromosomes in the genome of an organism that contain genetic sex determination factors and they evolved several times independently in different animal taxa (Lahn & Page, 1999; Ross *et al.*, 2005; Rice, 1996) and many times in angiosperm plants (Ming *et al.*, 2011; Papadopulos *et al.*, 2015; Charlesworth, 2016). The evolutionary origin of sex chromosomes are ordinary autosomes (Rice, 1996; Bachtrog, 2013; Bachtrog

et al., 2014; Wei & Barbash, 2015). The pathway towards sex chromosomes is, according to an established theory, thought to involve two different mutations on the homologous chromosomes, one leading to male sterility (thus to female individuals) and one leading to female sterility (thus to male individuals) (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978). These can be the same mutations that lead to dioecy in the first place (see above) or they can occur on a new autosomal pair in an already dioecious species and lead to sex chromosome turnover (see below). The mutations are expected to happen subsequent to each other on the same chromosome pair (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978) (see fig. 1). Dependent on the type of these mutations (dominant or recessive) and the order in which they occur, the heterogametic sex can be females (Z/W) or males (X/Y) and the intermediate state of the population can be either gynodioecy or androdioecy (Bachtrog et al., 2014) (fig. 1). Some of the evolutionary pathways are considered more likely than others which can explain the abundance of male heterogametic systems and gynodioecy as intermediate stage. But theoretically male and female heterogamety can be reached through both gynodioecy and androdioecy (Bachtrog et al., 2014).

Alternatively a single key gene might regulate the relative investment in male or female function (either in hermaphrodites or monoecious individuals) and diversifying selection can lead to alternative alleles, producing males or females (Renner, 2016; Charlesworth, 2016).

#### 1.4.1 Reduced recombination

In both cases, the genetic sex determination factor(s) on the incipient sex chromosomes will, however, experience sex specific inheritance patterns, with one homolog being always found in the heterogametic sex (sex limited Y or W chromosome) and the other homolog (shared X or Z chromosome) found in both sexes. This sex-specific inheritance of the sex determination locus opens the possibility for genes located in close linkage to it to evolve in a sex specific way and alleles on the proto-W chromosome to gain female beneficial effects (or proto-Y: male effects). Such effects might be (mildly) deleterious for the opposite sex and thus selection will favor reduced recombination between those sexually antagonistic alleles and the sex determining factor to ensure their linkage (Fisher, 1931; Rice, 1987, 1992; Qiu et al., 2013; Wei & Barbash, 2015). The case of two opposite sterility genes is in this context the most extreme possibility of sexual antagonism and in case of recombination between them, half of the offspring would be neuters which will result in strong negative selection against recombination (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978; Charlesworth, 2016). Different mechanisms to reduce recombination can thus evolve, or the sex determination system can establish in a region of a priori low recombination rate for example the centromers



Figure 1: Possible pathway of sex chromosome evolution. Starting from an ancestral hermaphroditic population (A) a dominant male sterility mutation occurs on one chromosome pair (B). As a result individuals carrying this mutation will be female (not producing pollen) and only contributing to the populations reproduction as mothers. The population is in a gynodioecious state. On a chromosome, homologous to the one with the first male sterility mutation, another recessive female sterility mutation occurs (C). Individuals that are homozygous for the second mutation will loose their female function and thus will act as males and contribute only as fathers to the reproduction within the population. If both mutations became fixed the population is dioecious (D). Due to the selective cost to recombination between the two mutations (E) mechanisms to avoid recombination develop and the sex limited sex chromosome will acquire sex specific functions but also degenerate by deleterious mutations, accumulating repetitive sequence or loosing large parts of its content (F). In a similar pathway with a primary recessive male sterile mutation an X/Y sex chromosome system can evolve.

(Telgmann-Rauber *et al.*, 2007; Yu *et al.*, 2007; Kersten *et al.*, 2014). Thus the sex determination locus is expected to be located in a genomic region where recombination has halted.

The molecular mechanism underlying the block of recombination is however not completely understood. The evolutionary strata - spatial clusters of X-Y or Z-W orthologs with similar divergence estimates – found on many sex chromosomes for example in birds (Moghadam et al., 2012; Wright et al., 2012, 2014), mammals (Lahn & Page, 1999; Ross et al., 2005), fish (Roesti et al., 2013; White et al., 2015), snakes (Vicoso et al., 2013a; Yin et al., 2016) as well as plants (Bergero et al., 2007; Hough et al., 2014; Papadopulos et al., 2015) indicate a stepwise extension of non recombining regions on sex chromosomes. It was hypothesized that inversions of parts of the sex chromosomes are the cause for this pattern (Charlesworth et al., 2005; Wright et al., 2016). However, young sex chromosomes show a more gradual expansion of non recombining regions and thus the swift effect of an inversion appears unlikely as the cause for recombination suppression (Pala et al., 2012a; Bergero et al., 2013; Natri et al., 2013). In this scenario inversions, that are found between sex chromosomes, might instead be the consequence of a relaxed selection for retained syntheny but the reduced selection against inversions is caused by other means.

Independent of the underlying cause, reduced recombination allows additional sexually antagonistic genes to evolve in or transposition to the sex determining region which in turn can lead to suppression of recombination in a larger area (Bergero *et al.*, 2013). Often recombination between the homologous sex chromosomes is retained in distal regions which are thus behaving just as autosomes and are termed pseudoautosomal regions(PARs) (Lahn *et al.*, 2001).

#### 1.4.2 Degeneration of sex chromosomes

Recombination is an essential process that separates advantageous and deleterious mutations on the same chromosome and thus allows deleterious mutations to be purged from the population (see the section "Sexual reproduction" above). The cessation of recombination between the sex chromosomes will therefore, in the long run, lead to degeneration of the non-recombining part of the sex limited sex chromosome (W or Y) (Charlesworth, 1996; Berlin & Ellegren, 2006). The effect of degeneration due to lost recombination was well described in old animal sex chromosomes before (Rice, 1996; Skaletsky *et al.*, 2003; Wright *et al.*, 2016) and recent insights from genomic studies in the dioecious plant *Silene latifolia* confirmed its relevance in the plant kingdom (Papadopulos *et al.*, 2015). Results from the plant species *Rumex hastatulus* in which different sex chromosome systems co-occur also demonstrated that sex limited sex chromosomes accumulate deleterious mutations and unpreferred codon usage in a time dependent manner (Hough *et al.*, 2014). Population genetic processes, such as selective sweeps, background selection, and Muller's ratchet, result in a reduction in effective population size ( $N_e$ ) of the sex limited sex chromosome beyond the 1:3 ratio due to its inherent segregation pattern, which increase the likelihood of fixation of deleterious mutations by drift and thus a lower-than-expected levels of genetic variability can occur (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 2000; Sachidanandam *et al.*, 2001; Berlin & Ellegren, 2004, 2006; Berlin *et al.*, 2007; Moghadam *et al.*, 2012; Hough *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, following the arrest of recombination, gene expression on the sex chromosomes can change as well, due to transcriptional decay of the sex-limited chromosomes (W or Y) resulting in reduced expression of the W (or Y) allele compared to the corresponding Z (or X) copy. This process has been shown to occur quickly (Bachtrog *et al.*, 2008; Hough *et al.*, 2014; Papadopulos *et al.*, 2015).

Additionally, random insertions of transposable elements and other repetitive sequence might extend the lengths of non-recombining sex limited regions (Hobza *et al.*, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2016) but sequence loss will ultimately take over, leading to reduced size of the sex limited sex chromosome and to the loss of many genes (Rice, 1996; Skaletsky *et al.*, 2003; Lahn *et al.*, 2001; Li *et al.*, 2016; Wright *et al.*, 2016). This leads to high levels of heterochromatic DNA (Blackburn, 1923; Carvalho, 2002; Bachtrog, 2013; Wei & Barbash, 2015) and low gene density (Rice, 1996; Zhou & Bachtrog, 2012; Bachtrog, 2013; Skinner *et al.*, 2016) in many old sex limited sex chromosomes. Genes that are retained on the sex limited sex chromosome can, however, be essential and are found to be concerned mostly with sex determination, fertility or ubiquitous function (Charlesworth *et al.*, 1987; Lahn & Page, 1997; Lahn *et al.*, 2001; Skaletsky *et al.*, 2003).

In the long run, the accumulation of deleterious changes on the sex limited sex chromosome will lead to the evolution of morphological clearly distinct (heteromorphic) sex chromosomes like they are found in most old systems. Some homomorphic sex chromosomes (e.g. European tree frogs (Stöck *et al.*, 2011), snakes (Vicoso *et al.*, 2013a), ratite birds (Mank & Ellegren, 2007; Vicoso *et al.*, 2013b; Yazdi & Ellegren, 2014)) are however old, but display limited levels of differentiation, indicating that loss of recombination has not spread very far from the sex determination locus. In such systems selective factors preventing or slowing down the degeneration of sex chromosomes – and thus the evolution of heteromorphic sex chromosomes – probably exist. These can for example be: a long haploid phase, incomplete dosage compensation, recombination of sex chromosomes in rare sex reversed individuals or low levels of sexual conflict (Wright *et al.*, 2016, and references therein). Tight regulation of the spread of repetitive DNA might also play a role in the fate of individual sex chromosomes (Hobza *et al.*, 2015).

Many homomorphic sex chromosomes are however young and in the early stage of degeneration (e.g. papaya (Liu *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2012), wild strawberry (Spigler *et al.*, 2008; Tennessen *et al.*, 2016), *Silene colpophylla* (Mrackova *et al.*, 2008), *Populus* (Geraldes *et al.*, 2015), *Megaselia scalaris*, *Megaselia abdita*, *Calliphora erythrocephala* (Vicoso & Bachtrog, 2015, and references therein)).

#### 1.4.3 Sexualization of the recombining sex chromosome

Like the sex limited sex chromosome (W or Y), also the homologous shared sex chromosome that is recombining in the homogametic sex (Z or X) undergoes specialized evolution. As the W chromosome degenerates, it loses functional genes, rendering the Z chromosome effectively haploid (hemizygous) for these genes in females. The ratio between W linked genes and autosomal genes is halved compared to that of Z/Z males, creating a potentially detrimental imbalance for dosage-sensitive genes. To overcome this problem different dosage compensation systems have evolved, either by up-regulation of hemizygous genes in the heterogametic sex (Straub et al., 2005; Naurin et al., 2012) or by silencing of one allele in the homogametic sex (Senner & Brockdorff, 2009; Splinter et al., 2011; Graves, 2016b) (but see Chen & Zhang (2016)). At the same time newly arisen recessive or partially recessive mutations in hemizygous genes on the shared sex chromosome are more often exposed to selection compared to autosomal genes and thus beneficial mutations can be fixed more rapidly by selection. Additionally, reduced effective population size can lead to higher rate of fixation of novel mutations due to drift. Therefore Z-linked (or X-linked) genes can be more divergent between species compared with autosomal genes, a phenomenon known as the 'faster-X effect' (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1987; Baines & Harr, 2007; Mank et al., 2010; Connallon et al., 2012; Meisel & Connallon, 2013). Similarly a faster-X (faster-Z) effect for gene expression can be seen (Kayserili et al., 2012; Llopart, 2012; Meisel et al., 2012; Dean et al., 2015) which can be caused by faster evolution of cis regulatory non-coding sequence (Meisel & Connallon, 2013).

Dominant alleles on the proto-Z (proto-X) of genes that are retained on both homologs are expressed 2/3 of the time in males (X: females) and thus can similar to genes on the W (Y) chromosome obtain a sex specific effect due to sex biased selection, while recessive changes on the shared sex chromosomes are predominantly under selection in the hemizygous stage in the females (X: males) and thus are selected for benefits in the opposite sex (Rice, 1984; Wright *et al.*, 2012; Jaquiéry *et al.*, 2013). Conflicts arising from this sexualization of the shared sex chromosome can be solved by sex specific expression and thus genes on a sexualized shared sex chromosome are expected to be more commonly expressed in a sex specific way than genes on autosomes (Connallon & Knowles, 2005; Scotti & Delph, 2006; Ellegren & Parsch, 2007). Extensive sex specific expression might be sufficient to mitigate detrimental effects of sexual antagonistic genes and thus might be an alternative to recombination suppression between sex chromosomes in some clades, as for example seen in emus (Vicoso *et al.*, 2013b).

#### 1.4.4 Sex chromosome turnover

The major differentiation and high functional specialization especially of old sex chromosomes might appear to be a dead end and it might seem unlikely that the sex chromosome system changes (Mank & Avise, 2009). None the less, new chromosomes actually can take over the role as sex chromosomes or established sex chromosomes can be extended by fusion events. These sex chromosome turnover events are happening often and in different taxa (Smith, 1964; Phillips *et al.*, 2001; Miura, 2008; Mank & Avise, 2009; Ki-tano & Peichel, 2012; Slancarova *et al.*, 2013; Bachtrog *et al.*, 2014; Yoshida *et al.*, 2014; Vicoso & Bachtrog, 2015; Mulugeta *et al.*, 2016). Turnover can also change the sex determination system and induce a transition from male to female heterogamety or *vice versa* and therefore turnover provides another evolutionary pathway to these systems than the evolution together with dioecy.

A new pair of autosomes can evolve into sex chromosomes and take over sex determination if a new sex determining mechanism is established on this chromosome pair which sets off a new round of sex chromosome evolution. This can occur through transposition or translocation of existing sex-determination genes, the fusion of sex chromosome and autosome or the evolution of a new sex determining mechanism (fig. 2) (Smith, 1964; Kitano & Peichel, 2012; Hough *et al.*, 2014; Yoshida *et al.*, 2014; Wei & Barbash, 2015). This transition can be facilitated by (partial) environmental sex determination as an intermediate step (Ezaz *et al.*, 2009; Quinn *et al.*, 2011; Holleley *et al.*, 2015; Graves, 2016a).

Different driving forces can theoretically induce sex chromosome turnovers such as sexually antagonistic selection (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1980; van Doorn & Kirkpatrick, 2007, 2010), heterozygote advantage (Charlesworth & Wall, 1999), selection for sex ratio bias (Fredga *et al.*, 1977), rescue of deleterious mutation on Y chromosomes (the "Hot-Potato model") (Blaser *et al.*, 2013, 2014), a combination of genetic drift and heterozygote disadvantage (Lande, 1985; Yoshida *et al.*, 2014), the disruption of sex determination by endosymbionts (Cordaux *et al.*, 2011) or the presence



Figure 2: Cycle of sex chromosome turnover. New sex chromosomes can evolve by chromosomal fusion or acquisition of a new sex determination system. Illustration inspired by Wei & Barbash (2015).

of sex chromosome meiotic drive (Maynard Smith, 1978, p. 164, Yoshida & Kitano, 2012).

Sex chromosome turnover can lead to mating barriers between individuals with the old and the new sex determination system respectively (Graves & O'Neill, 1996; Graves, 2016a) and thus sex chromosome turnover might lead to speciation. The three major mammal lineages (Eutheria, Metatheria, Prototheria) are separated by sex chromosome turnover events and it is thus conceivable that the turnover of sex determination systems is causative for those speciation events (Graves, 2016a, and references therein).

Neo sex chromosomes can be the result of the fusion between an autosomal part and the former sex chromosomes or sex determination can be regulated by a new pair of former autosomes (fig. 2). In the first case the evolutionary pattern of sex chromosome divergence can extend to the new parts of the sex chromosome (Waters *et al.*, 2001; Pala *et al.*, 2012a,b; Bergero *et al.*, 2013; Hough *et al.*, 2014). In the case of a new sex chromosome system, emerging directly from an autosome however, the previous sex chromosome can revert to autosomal inheritance (Vicoso & Bachtrog, 2013, 2015; Wei & Barbash, 2015). Especially if the previous sex chromosomes had strongly diverged from each other, the reversion needs to overcome selection barriers which might contribute to the apparent stability of some old sex chromosome systems. As an initial step it is likely that the shared sex chromosome (Z or W) reestablishes diploidy, possibly through meiotic nondisjunction (Vicoso & Bachtrog, 2013), which is than followed by a loss of dosage compensation mechanisms (Wei & Barbash, 2015).

#### 1.5 Deviations from equal sex ratios

By separating sexual functions into different individuals, selection can act differently on them. One effect of this sex specific selection is the evolution of sex chromosomes (see above), another effect can be the higher mortality or a selective advantage of individuals of one sex. Genetic sex determination creates also an environment where genetic elements can be inherited specifically to one sex. Such elements can benefit from a biased sex ratio that facilitates their spread in the population. However, frequency based selection is expected to maintain a balanced offspring sex ratio, provided that the cost of producing male and female offspring and their fitness is equal (Fisher, 1930; Lloyd, 1974; Hardy, 2002). None the less, both in the plant kingdom (Barrett *et al.*, 2010; Sinclair *et al.*, 2012; Field *et al.*, 2013) but also among animals (Westerdahl *et al.*, 1997; Donald, 2007; Neto *et al.*, 2011; Pipoly *et al.*, 2015) uneven sex ratios are common on a family and species-wide level due to often unknown genetic or ecological mechanisms.

Males and females invest different resources into reproduction and thus bear different costs (e.g. fruit formation or high amounts of pollen in wind pollination). This effect can lead to differences in resilience and sex-biased mortality which in turn influences the adult sex ratio (Crawford & Balfour, 1983; Delph, 1999; Donald, 2007; Petry *et al.*, 2016). As an additional factor, in species with heteromorphic sex chromosomes the heterogametic sex will be hemizygous for a large number of loci and thus unable to mask the expression of recessive deleterious alleles. According to the 'unguarded sex chromosome hypothesis' this will lead to higher mortality of individuals of the heterogametic sex (Haldane, 1922; Dorken & Barrett, 2004; Donald, 2007; Pipoly *et al.*, 2015).

But especially for plants, determining the sex of an individual that is not flowering (juvenile or non-reproducing) is difficult since sexual dimorphisms are usually limited to floral tissue and therefore there is a lack of knowledge on when in an organism's life cycle the sex bias is introduced. Not only does adult sex ratio not necessarily reflect seed sex ratio but one sex might flower more often or have an earlier onset of flowering during life history and therefore the measured sex ratios might be biases by data collection (Barrett *et al.*, 2010). Molecular markers or cytological methods can in some cases be used to determine genetic sex without phenotypic differences and in an early life stage (Stehlik & Blattner, 2004; Xu *et al.*, 2004; Stehlik *et al.*, 2008; Abreu *et al.*, 2015; Tsai *et al.*, 2016) and these tools are therefore valuable for the understanding of mechanisms underlying sex ratio biases during the life history (Barrett *et al.*, 2010).

Sex chromosome meiotic drive is a mechanism that – due to non-Mendelian segregation of sex determination alleles – can influence the offspring sex ratio directly. A gene on a sex-determining chromosome, making that chromosome more likely to participate in fertilization, will increase its frequency – until checked by some counterbalancing force (Hamilton, 1967; Meiklejohn & Tao, 2010). An example for such a system is the Y-linked gene  $M^D$  in Aedes aegypti (Hickey & Craig, 1966; Newton *et al.*, 1976; Shin *et al.*, 2012). The presence of this gene in males results in an over-abundance of males in the offspring generation due to X chromosome breakage during male meiosis. Similar systems have been observed in *Drosophila* species (Gershenson, 1928; Novitski, 1947; Jaenike, 2001) and seem to play a role in the female biased sex ratio in *Silene latifolia* (Taylor, 1994; Taylor & Ingvarsson, 2003; Taylor, 1999).

Uneven transmission of sex chromosomes to the next generation can, in male heterogametic species, also be caused by selection in the haploid pollen stage and thus influence the sex ratio. This can be caused either by differential survival of the gametophyte (Smith, 1963) or different types of pollen can vary in their fertilization success in competitive situation (certation, e.g. differences in pollen tube growth) (Smith, 1963; Taylor, 1994, 1999; Taylor & Ingvarsson, 2003; Stehlik *et al.*, 2008) which can results in a higher abundance of embryos of one sex. Based on this mechanism sex ratios can vary dependent on population density for example in *Rumex nivalis* (Stehlik *et al.*, 2008).

In the androdioecious plant *Phillyrea angustifolia* males and hermaphrodites co-occur at approximately equal ratios (Lepart, 1992) which is of surprise as functionally androdioecious species are expected to exhibit low male frequencies in populations unless males have a strong selective advantage (Saumitou-Laprade *et al.*, 2010). It was shown that the genetic background to this system is a genetic incompatibility between two classes of hermaphrodites. Males are able to sire hermaphrodites of both incompatibility groups due to a "permissive" incompatibility allele in tight linkage to the sex determination locus (Saumitou-Laprade *et al.*, 2010). Detailed studies of pedigree populations based on different types of hermaphrodites and males revealed an additional selfish genetic element in some males, which is also linked to the female-sterility locus and which effectively prevents the formation of hermaphroditic offspring in one

type of crosses. All offspring of these crosses inherited exclusively the Y-acting allele of the sex determining region from the father while expected hermaphrodictic siblings are purged from the population by a unknown mechanism that is potentially similar to gametophytic self-incompatibility (Billiard *et al.*, 2015; Pannell & Voillemot, 2015).

Beside nuclear genetic elements also units in the cytosol can influence the sex ratio. Since the cytosol is usually predominantly maternally inherited, symbionts and organells benefit from a female biased offspring sex ratio. Many insects, including Drosophila species but also other animals, often are associated with symbiotic bacteria (Moran et al., 2008; McFall-Ngai et al., 2013). Some symbionts like Wolbachia, Spiroplasma, Cardinium and Arsenophonus can act through male-killing, feminization, cytoplasmic incompatibility and parthenogenesis to alter the operational sex ratio among offspring of an individual bearing them and thus spread into their host populations in selfish ways (Werren et al., 2008; Cordaux et al., 2011; Hurst & Frost, 2015; Perlman et al., 2015; Harumoto et al., 2016). Similarly mitochondria are known to change the operative sex in different hermaphroditic plant species through cytoplasmic male sterility (CMS) (see above). This effect is sometimes referred to as sex ratio change (Bailey & Delph, 2007; Perlman et al., 2015). Likewise, in species with completely separate sexes, effects on the genetic or operational sex ratio by organells - similar to the effects of symbionts - are conceivable but were not yet described (Matessi & Saino, 2003; Lane, 2006, p. 239; Perlman et al., 2015).

#### 1.6 The Salicaceae family

While this thesis studies aspects of sex determination, sex chromosome evolution and deviations from equal sex ratio which are of very general interest both within the plant kingdom but also beyond, we used the willow species *Salix viminalis* as a model. This plant species is a member of the Salicaceae family which also contains the well studied tree species *Populus trichocarpa* (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006) as well as several other species that are investigated for different aspects.

According to the current molecular evidence the Salicaceae family is a group of about 1000 species in ca. 55 genera (Cronk *et al.*, 2015b) with *Populus* and *Salix* forming a monophyletic clade and *Idesia* and *Bennettio-dendron* being the closest sister genera (Leskinen & Alström-Rapaport, 1999; Liu *et al.*, 2016). Based on fossil records the divergence of the *Populus* and *Salix* genus started more than 45 mya (Boucher *et al.*, 2003; Manchester *et al.*, 2006). Species in the Salicaceae family are woody (trees or shrubs, fig. 3) with simple, usually alternate leaves (Cronk *et al.*, 2015b). The flowers of



Figure 3: Physical appearance of *S. viminalis*. (A) Field archive with shoots regrown from rootstock during one growing season. (B) Growth in controlled conditions in a climate chamber. (C) Seedlings. (D) Female catkins with protruding gynoecia. (E) Schematic image of female limited reproductive organ (gynoecium) (F) Male catkins with protruding stamens. (G) Schematic image of male limited reproductive organs (filaments and anthers). Panel E and G are reproduced from Thomé & Müller (1886).

*Populus* and *Salix* species are arranged in catkins (racemose inflorescence, fig. 3) while sister genera usually show branched inflorescences (Cronk *et al.*, 2015b). Most genera in this family are dioecious and thus dioecy is likely an ancient trait in this taxon that evolved at least prior to the split of *Populus* and *Salix* (Cronk *et al.*, 2015b; Geraldes *et al.*, 2015).

The *Salix* genus comprises a large number of species (400-550 (Leskinen & Alström-Rapaport, 1999; Berlin *et al.*, 2010; The Plant List, 2013; Renner, 2014)) of which many can be easily propagated clonally and high seed numbers in some species allow the generation of large study populations. Willows are a "foundation species" and provide an abundant food-source for generalist and specialist animals such as rodents, deer, elk, reindeer and many insects

(Cronk *et al.*, 2015a, and references therein) and thus shape characteristic ecosystems. The genomes of willows and poplars are highly synthenic except for a major interchromosomal rearrangements involving poplar chromosome 1 and 16 and willow LG Ib (S3 map, Berlin *et al.* (2010)) / chromosome 16 (S5 map, paper IV) as a result of a fission or fusion event in one of the lineages. Wild populations and artificial crosses of many *Salix* species display distinct, mostly female biased sex ratios (Crawford & Balfour, 1983; Alliende & Harper, 1989; Dawson & Bliss, 1989; Alström-Rapaport *et al.*, 1997; Predavec & Danell, 2001; de Jong & van der Meijden, 2004; Ueno *et al.*, 2007; Myers-Smith & Hik, 2012; Che-Castaldo *et al.*, 2015).

Both poplars, aspens and willows are used as energy crop in short-rotation coppice systems with positive energy output (Karp & Shield, 2008; Dillen *et al.*, 2013; Murphy *et al.*, 2014) and detailed studies on the genetic background of traits related to breeding goals, for example on growth and phenology (Hallingbäck *et al.*, 2016) and drought resistance (Pucholt *et al.*, 2015b), are undertaken. The shared whole genome duplication between poplars and willows (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006; Berlin *et al.*, 2010) also allows to study evolutionary questions on, for example, the retention of paralogous genes (Berlin *et al.*, 2010; Harikrishnan *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.6.1 Sex determination in the Populus genus

Studies on sex determination in *Populus* species (poplars and aspens) revealed that likely multiple systems exist within this genus. While dioecy is ancestral and thus originated more than 45 mya, sex chromosomes seem not to have evolved into heteromorphic sex chromosomes and the sex determination mechanism(s) have evolved more recently (Geraldes *et al.*, 2015).

Genetic mapping studies have identified a sex-determining region in the proximal telomeric end of chromosome 19 in poplars (*Populus* sections Tacamahaca and Aigeiros) (Gaudet *et al.*, 2008; Yin *et al.*, 2008) and a pericentromeric region in aspens (*Populus* section Populus) (Pakull *et al.*, 2009; Paolucci *et al.*, 2010; Kersten *et al.*, 2012). There are reports on female heterogamety (Z/W system) (Yin *et al.*, 2008; Paolucci *et al.*, 2010) and male heterogamety (X/Y system) (Gaudet *et al.*, 2008; Pakull *et al.*, 2009; Kersten *et al.*, 2014; Pakull *et al.*, 2015) and for *Populus tremuloides* and *Populus tremula* it could be shown that the gene TOZ19 is hemizygous in males and absent in females, possibly indicating a role of this gene in sex determination (Pakull *et al.*, 2015).

The presence of at least two different sex determination systems in different sections of the *Populus* genus at different loci of chromosome 19 is also supported by a genome-wide association study (GWAS) in *P. trichocarpa* and *P. balsamifera* and comparative sequence analysis with *P. tremuloides*
(Geraldes *et al.*, 2015). Based on this data the Y-chromosmal region in *P. tri-chocarpa* is 6-7 my old and thus the sex determination system in this species is much more recent than dioecy (Geraldes *et al.*, 2015).

However in the context of our own results on the study of sex determination in *Salix viminalis* it is important to stress that in all *Populus* species studied so far chromosome 19 was identified as the sex chromosome (Tuskan *et al.*, 2012; Geraldes *et al.*, 2015, and references therein).

## 1.6.2 Previous knowledge on sex determination in the Salix genus

Sex determination in the *Salix* genus (willows) has previously attracted less attention than in *Populus*, partly due to the absence of a reference genome in this genus. However, a study mainly targeting the biased sex ratios in S. viminalis proposed a genetic multi-locus system of sex determination in this species (Alström-Rapaport et al., 1997) and the genetic basis for sex determination was confirmed by the presence of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) markers that were associated with sex in some genetic backgrounds (Alström-Rapaport et al., 1998; Gunter et al., 2003b; Semerikov et al., 2003). These markers were linked to the morphological sex marker but the position of the markers in the genome was not resolved (Gunter et al., 2003b; Semerikov et al., 2003). However both the low number of sex linked markers (e.g. 1 in 1080 (Alström-Rapaport et al., 1998)) and the evidence that recombination is present along large parts of the chromosome that contained sex linked markers (Semerikov et al., 2003) indicate that a non-recombining region would be relatively narrow. The complete co-segregation of sex markers and phenotypic sex in a mapping population indicated a single genetic locus determining sex in this family (Semerikov et al., 2003).

Gunter *et al.* (2003b) converted two of the sex linked markers into PCR based SCAR markers: SCAR UBC  $354_{520}$  and SCAR OPAE08<sub>780</sub> which were also used in subsequent studies. Some attempts were made to amplify these markers in other species and to evaluate their correlation with sex. While unsuccessful amplification of the SCAR 354 marker in some *Salix* species indicate the absence of the marker region in these species (Temmel *et al.*, 2007) successful amplification and linkage with sex for the marker SCAR AE08 (Gunter *et al.*, 2003a) (but not SCAR 354) in *Salix eriocephala* indicate that the sex determination system might be shared over species boundaries. Similarity between the sequence amplified by SCAR 354 and a locus on the *P. trichocarpa* chromosome 15 gave a first indication of a potential genetic position of sex determination in *Salix* (Temmel *et al.*, 2007).

In summary, the knowledge on sex determination in the *Salix* genus prior to this work was limited and mainly focused on a small number of genetic markers with largely unresolved genomic location. They co-segregated with phenotypic sex in some but not all genetic backgrounds.

In parallel to my work, another group was independently studying sex determination in *Salix suchowensis* by applying QTL analysis to a mapping population (similar to our approach). Shortly after our publication of Paper I they could confirm one of our main findings, namely a single sex determination locus that is located centrally on chromosome 15 and thus on a different chromosome than sex determination in poplars but on the same locus as we describe it in *S. viminalis* (Pucholt *et al.*, 2015a; Hou *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.7 Next generation sequencing and big data as research tool

This work is based to a very large extent on the analysis of genomic and transcriptomic sequencing data from so called next generation (or second and third generation) sequencing (NGS) machines. Compared to previous methods of sequencing (e.g. Sanger sequencing (Sanger *et al.*, 1977)) the new innovation was the extremely high parallelization of the sequencing reaction. This field of technology is developing with an ever increasing speed and during the time of this thesis I witnessed both how previously widely used technologies (Roche 454 (Margulies *et al.*, 2005), ABI SOLiD (Shendure *et al.*, 2005)) were nearly abandoned as well as the rapid adoption of the third generation of sequencing technologies (PacBio (Eid *et al.*, 2009), Oxford Nanopore (Mikheyev & Tin, 2014)) that generate long reads from a large number of single molecules.

In a broader perspective this rapid technological development has led to an enormous rate of sequence data generation with a predicted doubling time of all sequence data ever generated of 7 to 18 month (Stephens *et al.*, 2015). This development has been fueled by a drop in sequencing costs that surpassed Moore's law (Moore, 1965) by orders of magnitude (Wetterstrand, 2016). Future biological research will thus have an even greater use of this type of data than current studies but handling and analyzing these data and their sheer amount requires large computational resources and new skills for the researcher.

As the number of applications of NGS data in all biological fields is enormous I will refrain from trying to give a general overview here and instead exemplify the use of sequencing and genotyping methods in my thesis project. For Paper I we used Sanger sequencing (Sanger *et al.*, 1977) to identify polymorphisms in the parents of an experimental cross. These single nucleotide polymorphisms(SNPs) were then genotyped in the whole population using the Illumina GoldenGate high throughput method (Fan *et al.*, 2003). This combination of traditional sequencing to identify polymorphic sites and high throughput genotyping delivered a dataset that was large compared to similar studies.

For Paper II 291 individuals of a collection of wild and largely unrelated accessions of *S. viminalis* were genotyped using the technique developed by Elshire *et al.* (2011) called Genotyping-by-Sequencing (GBS). In this process the whole genome of an individual is in a first step reduced to regions in proximity to restriction enzyme cut sides and this reduced library is then sequenced. This technique makes it feasible to analyze a large number of individuals without prior knowledge of polymorphisms and it generates a high density of traceable SNPs in a nearly random distribution over the whole genome. In a GWAS we then analyzed the association between genotypes and the sex of individuals.

The same technique was used for Paper IV on 273 individuals of a mapping population to analyze association between genotypes and sex ratio, and gender and to generate a high density genetic map.

To link markers from paper II to genomic positions we additionally used a *S. viminalis* genome assembly based on PacBio RSII single molecule sequencing reads. This third generation sequencing technique proved to be highly valuable to obtain long genomic sequence scaffolds of the complex genome.

For Paper III we applied the Illumina HiSeq technique (Bentley *et al.*, 2008) to analyze the whole genome sequence of four *S. viminalis* individuals as well as the transcriptome from catkins and leaves of six individuals. The total sequencing data generated for this project was approximately 220 Gbp which is equivalent to 73 times the size of the human genome or 440 times the size of the *S. viminalis* genome.

With this huge amount of data comes an enormous power to detect scientifically interesting phenomena and many of the questions posed in this project would not be possible to answer without large datasets.

The data analysis usually requires the application of several tools/programs in different computational environments to convert raw data via multiple intermediate steps into results that lead to new insights. Tools in this process can be optimized algorithms, performing computationally expensive tasks like read mapping or variant detection, utilities to convert between different file formats or filtering the results based on given parameters or applications for plotting or statistical testing. Every one of

these steps typically has a number of adjustable parameters which often need to be optimized to obtain the best analysis of the data at hand.

Such analyses can be seen as a workflow which van der Aalst & van Hee (2004) defined as a collection of tasks that are interdependent and thus need to be completed in a specific order to obtain a result or to create a product. In order to ensure reproducibility, to document the flow of data, the applied methods and parameters and to automate and optimize the task execution, workflow management systems are widely used in bioinformatics. Simple systems of workflow management can be shell scripts that execute a defined sequence of tasks. There are also browser based systems available that facilitate the analysis through simplified interfaces – as for example the Galaxy framework (Giardine *et al.*, 2005; Afgan *et al.*, 2016) that integrates many widely used analysis tools.

However, in many cases an increased flexibility and higher parallelization in the analysis of multiple samples with different sets of parameters can be achieved through a workflow definition that resembles a programming language. A popular system for workflow management that is based on the python language and allows for extremely flexible execution of widely variable workflows in diverse computational environments is the Snakemake system (Köster & Rahmann, 2012).

Current biological research does already now – and will do so even more in the future – use and depend on large datasets and thanks to the rapid development in sequencing technologies, but also the increased usage of imaging techniques etc. these datasets will become even larger. Therefore a modern research lab requires equipment and strategies to handle and analyze big data. In my thesis work I followed the whole process from planning and execution of the biological experiment, through DNA/RNA extraction to data generation, analysis and insights for several large collections of sequencing and genotyping data.

### 2 Aims of the study

Sexual reproduction is omnipresent in the eukaryote lineage and separate sexes are found in most animal and some plant species. Sex chromosomes are found in many of the species with separate sexes and they represent a unique evolutionary system. This thesis aims to contribute to the knowledge of sex chromosome evolution, sex determination and sex ratio distortion. We used the plant species *S. viminalis* as a model to gain knowledge about these processes. Therefore in a first stage we aimed to unravel the genomic architecture of sex determination in this species and to compare it to the system in the related species *P. trichocarpa* to then analyze the evolutionary history of the sex determination locus in greater detail. A specific feature of the model system *S. viminalis* is its pronounced but variable biased sex ratio. We thus aimed to identify mechanisms underlying this trait and to determine if sex determination and sex ratio distortion are controlled by the same or different mechanism.

The work had the following specific objectives:

- To determine the mode of sex determination in *S. viminalis*: genetic, environmental, single locus, multi locus
- To identify the genomic location of the sex determination factor(s)
- To analyze the mode of inheritance of sex determination (female / male heterogametic)
- To describe the effects that evolutionary processes had on the sex chromosomes and by this, to identify processes that happen early during sex chromosome evolution
- To elucidate factors regulating the biased sex ratios in *S. viminalis* and their relation to sex determination factors

#### 3 Results and discussion

The results of this thesis are reported in the four articles reproduced in a thematic order at the end of this book. These four parts of the thesis each contain a detailed presentation of the findings and a discussion of the results in their context. Here I will give a short summary and highlight some results to present a more general picture of the work and the interconnection of the sub-projects. Articles that are part of this thesis are referred to as roman numerals.

# 3.1 Female heterogamety and chromosome 15 as sex chromosome in *Salix viminalis* (I, II & IV)

One important aspect of this thesis was to characterize the sex determination system of S. viminalis on a chromosomal level. Prior to this work it was speculated that the sex determination in willows is based on a multi locus sex determination system with dominance of certain loci over other (Alström-Rapaport et al., 1997). These results were based on observed segregation patterns but the assumed loci were not located in the genome. In paper I we thus applied an open approach to identify any region in the genome that was linked to sex determination through a QTL study in a population with even sex ratio. Results from this analysis confirmed the genetic sex determination and did show that there was a single locus on chromosome 15 that did explain 97.9% of the variation for the trait "sex". Other than this, only marginally significant signals were found. We could also show that one haplotype of three markers on chromosome 15 was completely coupled to femaleness and that these markers were maternally segregating and that females were always heterzygous in those markers. Based on these results we concluded that females are the heterogametic sex (Z/W) in S. viminalis and that there is a single locus on chromosome 15 (fig. 4) that determines the sex in this pedigree population.

Even though the main aim of paper IV was to study mechanisms behind uneven sex ratios, data from this population was also very valuable to analyze the sex determination system further. The pedigree populations in



 $\circ$  unbiased SR (S3)  $\circ$  female biased SR (S5)  $\circ$  GWAS Figure 4: Association between genetic markers and sex. Markers from three populations (S3: even sex ratio, paper I; S5: female biased sex ratio, paper IV; GWAS: unrelated individuals, paper II) were located in the *P. trichocarpa* genome (x-axis) and the significance of their association with the trait "sex" was calculated (Fisher's exact test, y-axis). Data from all populations highlight chromosome 15 as the sex chromosome.

paper I and IV share the same father but differ in the female parent. As the results from paper I showed that females are the heterogametic sex, this second population was ideal to test if there was any variance in the location of the sex determination locus between female individuals or if different loci in a potential multi-locus sex determination system would be dominant. The results from paper IV showed however that sex determination was based on the same single locus on chromosome 15 (fig. 4) also in this population and here as well, female heterozygosity was evident.

We could then extend these observations to a species wide level by applying GWAS to a large association mapping population with a high number of genetic markers in paper II. We detected 48 SNP markers that were significantly associated with sex and we could link the majority of these markers to chromosome 15 (fig. 4). Even here we demonstrated that females are the heterogametic sex and we found a correlation between heterozygous genotypes in the sex determination region and femaleness.

These findings are highly interesting as they clearly demonstrate the difference in sex chromosome systems (*Salix*: Z/W, Chr 15, *Populus*: X/Y or Z/W, Chr 19) between *Salix* and *Populus* species, while dioecy is ancestral to the Salicaceae family that contains both clades. It is thus likely that one (or both) clades underwent sex chromosome turnover events during their evolution.

Additionally we could show in paper II that some parts of the W sequence in *S. viminalis* are hemizygous and – at least partially – are paralogous to sequence on chromosome 9. The split between the paralogous sequences happened before the split from other *Salix* species (fig. 5) and thus the hem-



Figure 5: Phylogenetic tree of homologous sequences to the W-hemizygous region detected on chromosome 15. Details on the methods how this tree was generated and a discussion of its content is found in paper II.

izygous region is expected to be share over species boundaries suggesting that also the sex determination system is shared by other *Salix* species.

This insight, purely based on our own data, is supported by the observation that the same locus on chromosome 15 is determining sex in some other *Salix* species as well: *S. suchowensis* (Hou *et al.*, 2015), *S. purpurea* (personal communication). Contrary, a study in *S. herbacea* indicates the existence of additional loci associated with sex (Cortés, 2015). More studies in different *Salix* species would allow an analysis on how universal the sex chromosome system observed in *S. viminalis* is and to what phylogenetic level it is shared.

A possible mechanism in sex chromosome turnover would be the translocation of the sex determining region from one chromosome (e.g. Chr19) to another chromosome (e.g. Chr15). If this had happened, some genetic markers that are associated with sex might be located on the *S. viminalis* chromosome 15 while they have a location on chromosome 19 in *P. trichocarpa*. We specifically analyzed our datasets for this possibility but did not find any indications for a translocation between these two chromosomes. It is thus likely that different genetic elements underlay the sex determination in the *Populus* and *Salix* lineage respectively.

#### 3.2 Sex chromosome divergence and the evolutionary history of the *S. viminalis* sex determination system (III)

Both theoretical predictions (Fisher, 1931; Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1978; Rice, 1987, 1992; Qiu *et al.*, 2013) and actual observations in paper I and II suggest that some part of the *S. viminalis* sex chromosome experiences reduced or absent recombination. Analyzing the sequence divergence of this region allows for an approximate estimation of the age of the sex chromosome system which is of high interest in the context of the presumed sex chromosome turnover events in the Salicaceae family. Using *S. viminalis* as a model system however also allows new insights into the evolutionary processes involved in sex chromosome evolution in general.

In paper III we used DNA and RNA sequencing data from multiple female and male individuals and could show that a small non-recombining region exists at the sex determination locus. The level of sequence divergence and the absence of a Fast-Z effect indicate however a very recent evolutionary origin. The existence of genes in this region that are expressed in a sex specific way together with the absence of allele specifically expressed genes indicate that sex chromosome sexualization presumably predates severe W chromosome degeneration. We could also show that insertion of repetitive sequence into the sex limited sex chromosome likely happens early in sex chromosome evolution, a finding that is confirmed by results from paper II.

#### 3.3 Z chromosome incompatibility as a basis for biased sex ratios (IV)

Biased sex ratios are common in different *Salix* species, both in wild populations and in pedigree populations (Crawford & Balfour, 1983; Alliende & Harper, 1989; Dawson & Bliss, 1989; Alström-Rapaport *et al.*, 1997; Predavec & Danell, 2001; de Jong & van der Meijden, 2004; Ueno *et al.*, 2007; Myers-Smith & Hik, 2012; Che-Castaldo *et al.*, 2015; Paper II). In paper IV we studied a population with a strong female bias (~66% females in population) and could demonstrate that individuals with a certain genotype are missing completely from the population and we attribute this to a form of genetic incompatibility. Since this incompatibility locus is coupled to the sex locus in such a way that the W-linked female determining region and the Z-linked incompatibility region are located on different homologous sex chromosomes, the incompatibility only affects males and thus leads to a female bias in the population. A similar incompatibility system was reported

for the androdioecious species *P. angustifolia* were a selfish genetic element benefits from biased sex ratios (Billiard *et al.*, 2015; Pannell & Voillemot, 2015). Even though the incompatibility system, as we found it in this population, will lead to reduced spread of Z-chromosomes and thus should not benefit a selfish element, we could show that such an allelic incompatibility could be maintained in the species through a system of overdominance or pseudooverdominance.

Such a mechanism for sex ratio distortion is reported in very few systems, however it will only be detectable through high marker density in a reasonably large population. Detailed studies in other non-model species might therefore detect similar mechanism that went un-noted up to now. This mechanism can also explain biased sex ratios previously described in *S. viminalis* that were attributed to a multi-locus sex determination system.

#### 3.4 Genome structure of S. viminalis (IV)

Based on the "S5" population, we generated a new genetic map for *S. viminalis* with a high marker density of GBS based genetic markers. This map confirmed previous findings of high syntheny between the genome of *P. trichocarpa* and the fission/fusion event between the chromosomes 1 and 16 since the split of the species. We used this tool also to anchor scaffolds containing sex associated markers to the genome in paper II and it will be of great use in the ongoing work to assemble the *S. viminalis* genome and for upcoming QTL studies in the S5 pedigree population.

## 4 Conclusion

During the course of this project we gained a multitude of new insights into the sex determination system, the evolution of sex chromosomes and the mechanism underlying biased sex ratio in *S. viminalis*. The open approach to identify factors involved in these processes has been exceptionally successful and extended the previous knowledge on sex determination in this species greatly. We analyzed, for the first time, the evolutionary history of *Salix* sex chromosomes and we suggest that the basis for biased sex ratio is incompatibility between certain alleles.

Some of the conclusion from this work are:

- In *S. viminalis* sex is determined by a single genetic locus on chromosome 15. The locus may however include multiple genes or other genetic elements. We confirmed this finding in multiple independent datasets and results from other *Salix* species, as well as phylogenetic analyses, indicate that it is shared over species boundaries.
- Females are the heterogametic sex in *S. viminalis* and thus carry two different homologous sequences (Z and W) in the sex determination region, while males carry two alleles of the Z type.
- The sex determination systems in the related species *S. viminalis* and *P. trichocarpa* are based on different genomic regions and sex chromosome turnover likely with the emergence of a new sex determination mechanism has happened at least once between the species.
- The sex determination region contains W-specific hemizygous sequence that is limited to females. Phylogenetic analyses indicate that the origin of this sequence predates the speciation.
- Within the sex determination region, recombination is reduced. The observed increased SNP density in females in the region is likely a result of this.

- The sex chromosomes show little sequence differentiation and no signs of extensive degradation or the Fast-Z effects. This indicates that they are evolutionary young.
- Insertion of repetitive sequence and sexualization of the sex chromosomes appear to be among the first processes to happen in sex chromosome evolution.
- Biased sex ratios in a *S. viminalis* pedigree population could be traced back to the absence of an expected male genotype. This observation indicates a role of allelic incompatibility as base for sex ratio distortion.

#### 5 Future perspectives

In this work we demonstrated that *S. viminalis* has a single locus sex determination system in chromosome 15. While some data indicate that also other *Salix* species share this mechanism, it is not clear how universal the system that we describe here is in the genus. To investigate this question further, either unbiased mapping approaches, similar to this work could be undertaken in other species or the presence of the W-specific hemizygous region could be tested specifically. Such analyses should be accompanied by a phylogenetic analysis of the genus since the current classification in sub-genera and even species is partially contradictory in the literature (Leskinen & Alström-Rapaport, 1999; Azuma *et al.*, 2000; Cronk *et al.*, 2015a; Fogelqvist *et al.*, 2015) but a well resolved phylogeny is crucial to determine the evolutionary trajectory of the sex chromosome system found here.

The hemizygous regions in the genome of *S. viminalis* demonstrate the beginning of differentiation between the sex chromosomes. More work is however needed to understand if these hemizygous regions are actually causative in the sex determination or if they appeared as a consequence of stalled recombination between sex chromosomes that occurred due to other sex determining factors and sexually antagonistic genes. The currently ongoing project to assemble the *S. viminalis* genome with a specific focus to separate W and Z-linked sequences with the help of third generation sequencing data will prove useful in identifying candidate genes or other genetic elements that are causative in sex determination and will also clarify the extend and function of hemizygous regions.

To further characterize the genetic factors that are causatively involved in sex determination, expression studies during the flower development – especially during the specialization phase at the time were female and male floral tissue starts to develop differently – can give new insights. In a time series of RNA seq data the regulatory pathways can be traced back and in this way the factors that regulate the development into male or female flowers can be identified. To confirm the involvement of these candidates, transformation studies in *Salix, Populus* or *A. thaliana* could potentially be used.

To study the genetic basis of biased sex ratios more, we have already generated new pedigree populations as back-crosses, sibling-crosses and outcrosses to other individuals based on the genetic material from the "S5" population (paper IV). Due to the extensive set of well characterized markers for these populations, it will be possible to use molecular methods to determine the genetic sex of the offspring and we can thus analyze the sex ratios and the presence of genotypes based purely on molecular data from seedlings. The genome assembly can then be used to identify candidate genes that might be involved in the incompatibility system.

To be able to analyze sex ratios in vegetative populations of any age, and from a breeding perspective an easy to use universal molecular sex marker is desirable. The PCR primers we designed in paper II do already separate between females and males, presumably on a species wide level, but in some cases the banding pattern alone might not be sufficient to predict an individuals sex. Other binary markers, either based on PCR or loop mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) (Tsai *et al.*, 2016) should be effortless to create based on the results from our studies and can be used to determine (and select on) the sex of individuals already in the seedling stage.

This work has thus laid the foundation for many more, highly interesting research projects.

#### References

- Abreu, I. S., Carvalho, C. R., Soares, F. A. F. (2015). Early sex discrimination in *Carica papaya* by nuclei FISH. *Euphytica* 206(3):667–676, doi:10.1007/s10681-015-1485-1
- Afgan, E., Baker, D., van den Beek, M., Blankenberg, D., Bouvier, D., Čech, M., Chilton, J., Clements, D., Coraor, N., *et al.* (2016). The Galaxy platform for accessible, reproducible and collaborative biomedical analyses: 2016 update. *Nucleic Acids Research* 44:gkw343, doi:10. 1093/nar/gkw343
- Ainsworth, C. (2000). Boys and girls come out to play: The molecular biology of dioecious plants. *Annals of Botany* 86(2):211–221, doi:10.1006/anbo.2000.1201
- Akagi, T., Henry, I. M., Tao, R., Comai, L. (2014). A Y-chromosome-encoded small RNA acts as a sex determinant in persimmons. *Science* 346(6209):646–650, doi:10.1126/science.1257225
- Alliende, M. C., Harper, J. L. (1989). Demographic studies of a dioecious tree. I. Colonization, sex and age structure of a population of *Salix cinerea*. *Journal of Ecology* 77(4):1029–1047, doi:10.2307/2260821
- Alström-Rapaport, C., Lascoux, M., Gullberg, U. (1997). Sex determination and sex ratio in the dioecious shrub Salix viminalis L. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 94(3):493–497, doi:10. 1007/s001220050442
- Alström-Rapaport, C., Lascoux, M., Wang, Y., Roberts, G., Tuskan, G. (1998). Identification of a RAPD marker linked to sex determination in the basket willow (*Salix viminalis* L.). *Journal of Heredity* 89(1):44–49, doi:10.1093/jhered/89.1.44
- Ashman, T.-L., Tennessen, J. A., Dalton, R. M., Govindarajulu, R., Koski, M. H., Liston, A. (2015). Multilocus sex determination revealed in two populations of gynodioecious wild strawberry, *Fragaria vesca* subsp. *bracteata*. *G3: genes - genomes - genetics* 5:2759–2773, doi:10.1534/g3. 115.023358
- Azuma, T., Kajita, T., Yokoyama, J., Ohashi, H. (2000). Phylogenetic relationships of Salix (Salicaceae) based on *rbcL* sequence data. *American Journal of Botany* 87(1):67–75, doi: 10.2307/2656686
- Bachtrog, D. (2013). Y-chromosome evolution: emerging insights into processes of Y-chromosome degeneration. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 14(2):113–124, doi:10.1038/nrg3366
- Bachtrog, D., Hom, E., Wong, K. M., Maside, X., de Jong, P. (2008). Genomic degradation of a young Y chromosome in *Drosophila miranda*. *Genome Biology* 9(2):R30, doi:10.1186/ gb-2008-9-2-r30
- Bachtrog, D., Mank, J. E., Peichel, C. L., Kirkpatrick, M., Otto, S. P., Ashman, T.-L., Hahn, M. W., Kitano, J., Mayrose, I., *et al.* (2014). Sex determination: Why so many ways of doing it? *PLoS Biology* 12(7):e1001899, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001899
- Bailey, M. F., Delph, L. F. (2007). A field guide to models of sex-ratio evolution in gynodioecious species. *Oikos* 116(10):1609–1617, doi:10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15315.x
- Baines, J. F., Harr, B. (2007). Reduced X-linked diversity in derived populations of house mice. Genetics 175(4):1911–1921, doi:10.1534/genetics.106.069419
- Baker, H. G. (1959). Reproductive methods as factors in speciation in flowering plants. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology 24(0):177–191, doi:10.1101/sqb.1959.024.01.019

- Baker, H. G. (1984). Some functions of dioecy in seed plants. *The American Naturalist* 124(2):149– 158, doi:10.1086/284260
- Barrett, S. C. H. (2002). Evolution of sex: the evolution of plant sexual diversity. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 3(4):274–284, doi:10.1038/nrg776
- Barrett, S. C. H., Yakimowski, S. B., Field, D. L., Pickup, M. (2010). Ecological genetics of sex ratios in plant populations. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B*, *Biological sciences* 365:2549–2557, doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0002
- Belaoussoff, S., Shore, J. S. (1995). Floral correlates and fitness consequences of mating-system variation in *Turnera ulmifolia*. *Evolution* 49(3):545–556, doi:10.2307/2410278
- Belhassen, E., Dommée, B., Atlan, A., Gouyon, P., Pomente, D., Assouad, M., Couvet, D. (1991). Complex determination of male sterility in *Thymus vulgaris* L.: genetic and molecular analysis. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 82(2):137–143, doi:10.1007/BF00226204
- Bentley, D. R., Balasubramanian, S., Swerdlow, H. P., Smith, G. P., Milton, J., Brown, C. G., Hall, K. P., Evers, D. J., Barnes, C. L., *et al.* (2008). Accurate whole human genome sequencing using reversible terminator chemistry. *Nature* 456(7218):53–59, doi:10.1038/nature07517
- Bergero, R., Forrest, A., Kamau, E., Charlesworth, D. (2007). Evolutionary strata on the X chromosomes of the dioecious plant *Silene latifolia*: Evidence from new sex-linked genes. *Genetics* 175(4):1945–1954, doi:10.1534/genetics.106.070110
- Bergero, R., Qiu, S., Forrest, A., Borthwick, H., Charlesworth, D. (2013). Expansion of the pseudoautosomal region and ongoing recombination suppression in the *Silene latifolia* sex chromosomes. *Genetics* 194(3):673–686, doi:10.1534/genetics.113.150755/-/DC1
- Berlin, S., Ellegren, H. (2004). Chicken W: a genetically uniform chromosome in a highly variable genome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 101(45):15967–15969, doi:10.1073/pnas.0405126101
- Berlin, S., Ellegren, H. (2006). Fast accumulation of nonsynonymous mutations on the femalespecific W chromosome in birds. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 62(1):66–72, doi:10.1007/ s00239-005-0067-6
- Berlin, S., Lagercrantz, U., von Arnold, S., Öst, T., Rönnberg-Wästljung, A. C. (2010). Highdensity linkage mapping and evolution of paralogs and orthologs in *Salix* and *Populus*. *BMC Genomics* 11(129), doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-129
- Berlin, S., Tomaras, D., Charlesworth, B. (2007). Low mitochondrial variability in birds may indicate Hill-Robertson effects on the W chromosome. *Heredity* 99(4):389–96, doi:10.1038/sj.hdy. 6801014
- Bernstein, H., Bernstein, C., Michod, R. E. (2011). Meiosis as an evolutionary adaptation for DNA repair. In Kruman, I., ed., DNA Repair, pp. 357–382, InTech, Rijeka, Croatia, ISBN 978-953-307-697-3, doi:10.5772/25117
- Bertin, R. I., Newman, C. M. (1993). Dichogamy in angiosperms. *The Botanical Review* 59(2):112– 152, doi:10.1007/BF02856676
- Beukeboom, L., Perrin, N. (2014). The evolution of sex determination. Oxford University Press, Oxford, United Kingdom, ISBN 978-019-965-714-8
- Billiard, S., Husse, L., Lepercq, P., Godé, C., Bourceaux, A., Lepart, J., Vernet, P., Saumitou-Laprade, P. (2015). Selfish male-determining element favors the transition from hermaphroditism to androdioecy. *Evolution* 69(3):683–693, doi:10.1111/evo.12613
- Blackburn, K. B. (1923). Sex chromosomes in plants. *Nature* 112(2819):687–688, doi:10.1038/ 112687c0
- Blaser, O., Grossen, C., Neuenschwander, S., Perrin, N. (2013). Sex-chromosome turnovers induced by deleterious mutation load. *Evolution* 67(3):635–645, doi:10.1111/j.1558-5646.2012.01810.x
- Blaser, O., Neuenschwander, S., Perrin, N. (2014). Sex-chromosome turnovers: The hot-potato model. *The American Naturalist* 183(1):140–146, doi:10.1086/674026
- Boualem, A., Fergany, M., Fernandez, R., Troadec, C., Martin, A., Morin, H., Sari, M.-A., Collin, F., Flowers, J. M., *et al.* (2008). A conserved mutation in an ethylene biosynthesis enzyme leads to andromonoecy in melons. *Science* 321(5890):836–838, doi:10.1126/science.1159023

- Boualem, A., Troadec, C., Camps, C., Lemhemdi, A., Morin, H., Sari, M.-A., Fraenkel-Zagouri, R., Kovalski, I., Dogimont, C., et al. (2015). A cucurbit androecy gene reveals how unisexual flowers develop and dioecy emerges. *Science* 350(6261):688–691, doi:10.1126/science.aac8370
- Boucher, L. D., Manchester, S. R., Judd, W. S. (2003). An extinct genus of Salicaceae based on twigs with attached flowers, fruits, and foliage from the Eocene Green River Formation of Utah and Colorado, USA. American Journal of Botany 90(9):1389–1399, doi:10.3732/ajb.90.9.1389
- Bradley, K. M., Breyer, J. P., Melville, D. B., Broman, K. W., Knapik, E. W., Smith, J. R. (2011). An SNP-based linkage map for zebrafish reveals sex determination loci. *G3: genes - genomes - genetics* 1(1):3–9, doi:10.1534/g3.111.000190
- Bull, J. J. (1980). Sex determination in reptiles. The Quarterly Review of Biology 55(1):3–21, doi: 10.1086/411613
- Burt, A. (2000). Perspective: Sex, recombination, and the efficacy of selection Was Weismann right? *Evolution* 54(2):337, doi:10.1554/0014-3820(2000)054[0337:PSRATE]2.0.CO;2
- Byzova, M. V., Franken, J., Aarts, M. G. M., de Almeida-Engler, J., Engler, G., Mariani, C., van Lookeren Campagne, M. M., Angenent, G. C. (1999). *Arabidopsis STERILE APETALA*, a multifunctional gene regulating inflorescence, flower, and ovule development. *Genes and Development* 13(8):1002–1014, doi:10.1101/gad.13.8.1002
- Carvalho, A. B. (2002). Origin and evolution of the Drosophila Y chromosome. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development 12(6):664–668, doi:10.1016/S0959-437X(02)00356-8
- Charlesworth, B. (1996). The evolution of chromosomal sex determination and dosage compensation. *Current Biology* 6(2):149–162, doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00448-7
- Charlesworth, B., Charlesworth, D. (1978). A model for the evolution of dioecy and gynodioecy. *The American Naturalist* 112(988):975–997
- Charlesworth, B., Charlesworth, D. (2000). The degeneration of Y chromosomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 355(1403):1563–1572, doi:10.1098/ rstb.2000.0717
- Charlesworth, B., Coyne, J., Barton, N. (1987). The relative rates of evolution of sex chromosomes and autosomes. *The American Naturalist* 130(1):113–146, doi:10.1086/284701
- Charlesworth, B., Wall, J. D. (1999). Inbreeding, heterozygote advantage and the evolution of neo-X and neo-Y sex chromosomes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 266(1414):51–56, doi:10.1098/rspb.1999.0603
- Charlesworth, D. (2002). Plant sex determination and sex chromosomes. *Heredity* 88(2):94–101, doi:10.1038/sj/hdy/6800016
- Charlesworth, D. (2015). Plant contributions to our understanding of sex chromosome evolution. New Phytologist 208(1):52–65, doi:10.1111/nph.13497
- Charlesworth, D. (2016). Plant sex chromosomes. Annual Review of Plant Biology 67(1):397–420, doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-043015-111911
- Charlesworth, D., Charlesworth, B. (1980). Sex differences in fitness and selection for centric fusions between sex-chromosomes and autosomes. *Genetical Research* 35(2):205–214, doi: 10.1017/S0016672300014051
- Charlesworth, D., Charlesworth, B. (1987). Inbreeding depression and its evolutionary consequences. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 18(1):237–268, doi:10.1146/annurev.es. 18.110187.001321
- Charlesworth, D., Charlesworth, B., Marais, G. (2005). Steps in the evolution of heteromorphic sex chromosomes. *Heredity* 95(2):118–128, doi:10.1038/sj.hdy.6800697
- Charlesworth, D., Guttman, D. S. (1999). The evolution of dioecy and plant sex chromosome systems. In Ainsworth, C., ed., Sex determination in plants, pp. 25–50, BIOS Scientific publishing, ISBN 1-85996-042-1
- Charnov, E. L., Bull, J. J., Maynard Smith, J. (1976). Why be an hermaphrodite? *Nature* 263:125–126, doi:10.1038/263125a0
- Che-Castaldo, C., Crisafulli, C. M., Bishop, J. G., Fagan, W. F. (2015). What causes female bias in the secondary sex ratios of the dioecious woody shrub *Salix sitchensis* colonizing a primary suc-

cessional landscape? American Journal of Botany 102(8):1309-1322, doi:10.3732/ajb.1500143

- Chen, L., Liu, Y.-G. (2014). Male sterility and fertility restoration in crops. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 65(5):579–606, doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-050213-040119
- Chen, X., Zhang, J. (2016). The X to autosome expression ratio in haploid and diploid human embryonic stem cells. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* In Press:msw187, doi:10.1093/molbev/ msw187
- Connallon, T., Knowles, L. L. (2005). Intergenomic conflict revealed by patterns of sex-biased gene expression. *Trends in Genetics* 21(9):495–499, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2005.07.006
- Connallon, T., Singh, N. D., Clark, A. G. (2012). Impact of genetic architecture on the relative rates of X versus autosomal adaptive substitution. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 29(8):1933– 1942, doi:10.1093/molbev/mss057
- Cordaux, R., Bouchon, D., Grève, P. (2011). The impact of endosymbionts on the evolution of host sex-determination mechanisms. *Trends in Genetics* 27(8):332–341, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2011.05. 002
- Cortés, A. J. (2015). On the big challenges of a small shrub Ecological genetics of Salix herbacea L. Ph.D. thesis, Uppsala University, ISBN:978-91-554-9337-0, URL http://urn.kb.se/resolve? urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-262239
- Crawford, R. M. M., Balfour, J. (1983). Female predominant sex ratios and physiological differentiation in arctic willows. *Journal of Ecology* 71(1):149–160, doi:10.2307/2259968
- Cronk, Q., Ruzzier, E., Belyaeva, I., Percy, D. (2015a). Salix transect of Europe: Latitudinal patterns in willow diversity from Greece to arctic Norway. *Biodiversity Data Journal* 3:e6258, doi:10. 3897/BDJ.3.e6258
- Cronk, Q. C. B., Needham, I., Rudall, P. J. (2015b). Evolution of catkins: Inflorescence morphology of selected Salicaceae in an evolutionary and developmental context. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6(12):1–13, doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.01030
- Czerwinski, M., Natarajan, A., Barske, L., Looger, L. L., Capel, B. (2016). A timecourse analysis of systemic and gonadal effects of temperature on sexual development of the red-eared slider turtle *Trachemys scripta elegans*. *Developmental Biology* In Press, doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.09.018
- Dawson, T. E., Bliss, L. C. (1989). Patterns of water use and the tissue water relations in the dioecious shrub, *Salix arctica*: the physiological basis for habitat partitioning between the sexes. *Oecologia* 79(3):332–343, doi:10.1007/BF00384312
- de Jong, T. J., van der Meijden, E. (2004). Sex ratio of some long-lived dioecious plants in a sand dune area. *Plant Biology* 6(5):616–620, doi:10.1055/s-2004-821177
- de Visser, J. A. G. M., Elena, S. F. (2007). The evolution of sex: Empirical insights into the roles of epistasis and drift. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 8(2):139–149, doi:10.1038/nrg1985
- Dean, R., Harrison, P. W., Wright, A. E., Zimmer, F., Mank, J. E. (2015). Positive selection underlies Faster-Z evolution of gene expression in birds. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 32(10):2646– 2656, doi:10.1093/molbev/msv138
- Delph, L. F. (1999). Sexual dimorphism in live history. In Geber, M. A., Dawson, T. E., Delph, L. F., eds., *Gender and sexual dimorphism in flowering plants*, pp. 61–95, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, ISBN 978-366-204-287-8
- Delph, L. F., Touzet, P., Bailey, M. F. (2007). Merging theory and mechanism in studies of gynodioecy. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22(1):17–24, doi:10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.013
- Di Stilio, V. S., Kramer, E. M., Baum, D. A. (2005). Floral MADS box genes and homeotic gender dimorphism in *Thalictrum dioicum* (Ranunculaceae) - A new model for the study of dioecy. *Plant Journal* 41(5):755–766, doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2005.02336.x
- Diggle, P. K., Di Stilio, V. S., Gschwend, A. R., Golenberg, E. M., Moore, R. C., Russell, J. R. W., Sinclair, J. P. (2011). Multiple developmental processes underlie sex differentiation in angiosperms. *Trends in Genetics* 27(9):368–376, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2011.05.003
- Dillen, S. Y., Djomo, S. N., Al Afas, N., Vanbeveren, S., Ceulemans, R. (2013). Biomass yield and energy balance of a short-rotation poplar coppice with multiple clones on degraded land during 16 years. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 56:157–165, doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.04.019

- Donald, P. F. (2007). Adult sex ratios in wild bird populations. *Ibis* 149(4):671–692, doi:10.1111/j. 1474-919X.2007.00724.x
- Dorken, M. E., Barrett, S. C. H. (2004). Sex determination and the evolution of dioecy from monoecy in Sagittaria latifolia (Alismataceae). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 271(1535):213–219, doi:10.1098/rspb.2003.2580
- Dufay, M., Cuguen, J., Arnaud, J. F., Touzet, P. (2009). Sex ratio variation among gynodioecious populations of sea beet: Can it be explained by negative frequency-dependent selection? *Evolution* 63(6):1483–1497, doi:10.1111/j.1558-5646.2009.00653.x
- Dzierzon, J. (1845). Gutachten über die von Herrn Direktor Stöhr im ersten und zweiten Kapitel des General-Gutachtens aufgestellten Fragen. *Eichstädter Bienenzeitung* 1(109-113):119–121
- Eid, J., Fehr, A., Gray, J., Luong, K., Lyle, J., Otto, G., Peluso, P., Rank, D., Baybayan, P., et al. (2009). Real-time DNA sequencing from single polymerase molecules. *Science* 323(5910):133– 138, doi:10.1126/science.1162986
- Ellegren, H., Parsch, J. (2007). The evolution of sex-biased genes and sex-biased gene expression. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 8(9):689–98, doi:10.1038/nrg2167
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., Mitchell, S. E. (2011). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PLoS ONE* 6(5):e19379, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019379
- Ezaz, T., Sarre, S. D., O'Meally, D., Marshall Graves, J. A., Georges, A. (2009). Sex chromosome evolution in lizards: Independent origins and rapid transitions. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research* 127(2-4):249–260, doi:10.1159/000300507
- Fan, J.-B., Oliphant, a., Shen, R., Kermani, B., Garcia, F., Gunderson, K., Hansen, M., Steemers, F., Butler, S., et al. (2003). Highly parallel SNP genotyping. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology 68:69–78, doi:10.1101/sqb.2003.68.69
- Field, D. L., Pickup, M., Barrett, S. C. H. (2013). Comparative analyses of sex-ratio variation in dioecious flowering plants. *Evolution* 67(3):661–672, doi:10.1111/evo.12001
- Fisher, R. A. (1930). *The genetical theory of natural selection*. Clarendon Press, Oxford, ISBN 0-19850-440-3
- Fisher, R. A. (1931). The evolution of dominance. *Biological Reviews* 63(689):556–561, doi:10. 1111/j.1469-185X.1931.tb01030.x
- Fogelqvist, J., Verkhozina, A. V., Katyshev, A. I., Pucholt, P., Dixelius, C., Rönnberg-Wästljung, A. C., Lascoux, M., Berlin, S. (2015). Genetic and morphological evidence for introgression between three species of willows. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 15(1):193, doi:10.1186/ s12862-015-0461-7
- Frank, S. (1989). The evolutionary dynamics of cytoplasmic male sterility. *The American Naturalist* 133(3):345–376
- Fredga, K., Gropp, A., Winking, H., Frank, F. (1977). A hypothesis explaining the exceptional sex ratio in the wood lemming (*Myopus schisticolor*). *Hereditas* 85:101–104, doi:10.1111/j. 1601-5223.1977.tb00956.x
- Freeman, D., Harper, K., Charnov, E. (1980). Sex change in plants: Old and new observations and new hypotheses. *Oecologia* 232:222–232, doi:10.1007/bf00346825
- Freeman, D. C., Doust, J. L., El-Keblawy, A., Miglia, K. J., McArthur, E. D. (1997). Sexual specialization and inbreeding avoidance in the evolution of dioecy. *The Botanical Review* 63(1):65–92, doi:10.1007/BF02857918
- Fujii, T., Shimada, T. (2007). Sex determination in the silkworm, *Bombyx mori*: A female determinant on the W chromosome and the sex-determining gene cascade. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* 18(3):379–388, doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2007.02.008
- Gamble, T., Coryell, J., Ezaz, T., Lynch, J., Scantlebury, D. P., Zarkower, D. (2015). Restriction siteassociated DNA sequencing (RAD-seq) reveals an extraordinary number of transitions among gecko sex-determining systems. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 32(5):1296–1309, doi:10. 1093/molbev/msv023

- Gaudet, M., Jorge, V., Paolucci, I., Beritognolo, I., Mugnozza, G. S., Sabatti, M. (2008). Genetic linkage maps of *Populus nigra* L. including AFLPs, SSRs, SNPs, and sex trait. *Tree Genetics* and Genomes 4(1):25–36, doi:10.1007/s11295-007-0085-1
- Gempe, T., Hasselmann, M., Schiøtt, M., Hause, G., Otte, M., Beye, M. (2009). Sex determination in honeybees: Two separate mechanisms induce and maintain the female pathway. *PLoS Biology* 7(10):e1000222, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000222
- Geraldes, A., Hefer, C. A., Capron, A., Kolosova, N., Martinez-Nuñez, F., Soolanayakanahally, R. Y., Stanton, B., Guy, R. D., Mansfield, S. D., *et al.* (2015). Recent Y chromosome divergence despite ancient origin of dioecy in poplars (*Populus*). *Molecular Ecology* 24(13):3243–3256, doi:10.1111/mec.13126
- Gershenson, S. (1928). A new sex-ratio abnormality in Drosophila obscura. Genetics 13(6):488– 507
- Giardine, B., Riemer, C., Hardison, R. C., Burhans, R., Elnitski, L., Shah, P., Zhang, Y., Blankenberg, D., Albert, I., *et al.* (2005). Galaxy: A platform for interactive large-scale genome analysis. *Genome Research* 15(10):1451–1455, doi:10.1101/gr.4086505
- Gobron, N., Waszczak, C., Simon, M., Hiard, S., Boivin, S., Charif, D., Ducamp, A., Wenes, E., Budar, F. (2013). A cryptic cytoplasmic male sterility unveils a possible gynodioecious past for *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *PLoS ONE* 8(4):e62450, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062450
- Goddard, M. R., Godfray, H. C. J., Burt, A. (2005). Sex increases the efficacy of natural selection in experimental yeast populations. *Nature* 434(7033):636–640, doi:10.1038/nature03405
- Goodfellow, P. N., Lovell-Badge, R. (1993). SRY and sex determination in mammals. Annual Review of Genetics 27(1):71–92, doi:10.1146/annurev.ge.27.120193.000443
- Gorelick, R., Carpinone, J. (2009). Origin and maintenance of sex: The evolutionary joys of self sex. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 98(4):707–728, doi:10.1111/j.1095-8312.2009. 01334.x
- Graves, J. A., O'Neill, R. J. (1996). Sex chromosome evolution and Haldane's rule. *The Journal of Heredity* 88(5):358–360, doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jhered.a023118
- Graves, J. A. M. (2016a). Did sex chromosome turnover promote divergence of the major mammal groups? *BioEssays* 38(8):734–743, doi:10.1002/bies.201600019
- Graves, J. A. M. (2016b). Evolution of vertebrate sex chromosomes and dosage compensation. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 17(1):33–46, doi:10.1038/nrg.2015.2
- Gubbay, J., Collignon, J., Koopman, P., Capel, B., Economou, A., Münsterberg, A., Vivian, N., Goodfellow, P., Lovell-Badge, R. (1990). A gene mapping to the sex-determining region of the mouse Y chromosome is a member of a novel family of embryonically expressed genes. *Nature* 346(6281):245–250, doi:10.1038/346245a0
- Guler, Y., Short, S., Kile, P., Ford, A. T. (2012). Integrating field and laboratory evidence for environmental sex determination in the amphipod, *Echinogammarus marinus*. *Marine Biology* 159(12):2885–2890, doi:10.1007/s00227-012-2042-2
- Gunter, L. E., Kopp, R. F., McCord, R. P., Tuskan, G. A. (2003a). Analysis of sex-linked, sequencecharacterized amplified region markers in *Salix eriocephala*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 33(9):1785–1790, doi:10.1139/x03-094
- Gunter, L. E., Roberts, G. T., Lee, K., Larimer, F. W., Tuskan, G. A. (2003b). The development of two flanking SCAR markers linked to a sex determination locus in *Salix viminalis L. Journal of Heredity* 94(2):185–189, doi:10.1093/jhered/esg023
- Haldane, J. B. S. (1922). Sex ratio and unisexual sterility in hybrid animals. *Journal of Genetics* 12(2):101–109, doi:10.1007/BF02983075
- Hallingbäck, H. R., Fogelqvist, J., Powers, S. J., Turrion-Gomez, J., Rossiter, R., Amey, J., Martin, T., Weih, M., Gyllenstrand, N., *et al.* (2016). Association mapping in *Salix viminalis* L. (Salicaceae) - identification of candidate genes associated with growth and phenology. *Global change biology Bioenergy* 8(3):670–685, doi:10.1111/gcbb.12280
- Hamilton, W. D. (1967). Extraordinary sex ratios. *Science* 156(3774):477–488, doi:10.1126/ science.156.3774.477

- Hanson, M. R. (1991). Plant mitochondrial mutations and male-sterility. Annual Review of Genetics 25:461–486, doi:10.1146/annurev.genet.25.1.461
- Harder, L. D., Barrett, S. C. H. (1995). Mating cost of large floral displays in hermaphrodite plants. *Nature* 373(6514):512–515, doi:10.1038/373512a0
- Hardy, I. C. W. (2002). Sex ratios: Concepts and research methods. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, ISBN 978-052-181-896-4, doi:10.1038/sj/hdy/6800018
- Harikrishnan, S. L., Pucholt, P., Berlin, S. (2015). Sequence and gene expression evolution of paralogous genes in willows. *Scientific Reports* 5:18662, doi:10.1038/srep18662
- Harumoto, T., Anbutsu, H., Lemaitre, B., Fukatsu, T. (2016). Male-killing symbiont damages host's dosage-compensated sex chromosome to induce embryonic apoptosis. *Nature Communications* 7:12781, doi:10.1038/ncomms12781
- Haughn, G. W., Somerville, C. R. (1988). Genetic control of morphogenesis in Arabidopsis. Developmental Genetics 9(2):73–89, doi:10.1002/dvg.1020090202
- Henking, H. (1891). Untersuchungen über die ersten Entwicklungsvorgänge in den Eiern der Insekten II: Über Spermatogenese und Beziehung zur Eientwicklung bei Pyrrhocoris apterus. Zeitschrift für wissenschaftliche Zoologie 51:685–736
- Hickey, W. A., Craig, G. B. (1966). Genetic distortion of sex ratio in a mosquito, Aedes aegypti. Genetics 53(6):1177–1196
- Hill, W. G., Robertson, A. (1966). The effect of linkage on limits to artificial selection. *Genetical Research* 8(3):269, doi:10.1017/S0016672300010156
- Hobza, R., Kubat, Z., Cegan, R., Jesionek, W., Vyskot, B., Kejnovsky, E. (2015). Impact of repetitive DNA on sex chromosome evolution in plants. *Chromosome Research* 23(3):561–570, doi: 10.1007/s10577-015-9496-2
- Hodgkin, J. (1987). Primary sex determination in the nematode C. elegans. Development 101:5-16
- Hodgkin, J. (1990). Sex determination compared in *Drosophila* and *Caenorhabditis*. *Nature* 344(6268):721–728, doi:10.1038/344721a0
- Holleley, C. E., O'Meally, D., Sarre, S. D., Marshall-Graves, J. A., Ezaz, T., Matsubara, K., Azad, B., Zhang, X., Georges, A. (2015). Sex reversal triggers the rapid transition from genetic to temperature-dependent sex. *Nature* 523:79–82, doi:10.1038/nature14574
- Hou, J., Ye, N., Zhang, D., Chen, Y., Fang, L., Dai, X., Yin, T. (2015). Different autosomes evolved into sex chromosomes in the sister genera of *Salix* and *Populus*. *Scientific Reports* 5:9076, doi: 10.1038/srep09076
- Hough, J., Hollister, J. D., Wang, W., Barrett, S. C. H., Wright, S. I. (2014). Genetic degeneration of old and young Y chromosomes in the flowering plant *Rumex hastatulus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 111(21):7713–7718, doi:10.1073/pnas.1319227111
- Hurst, G. D., Frost, C. L. (2015). Reproductive parasitism: Maternally inherited symbionts in a biparental world. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 7(5):a017699, doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a017699
- Jaenike, J. (1978). An hypothesis to account for the maintenance of sex within populations. Evolutionary Theory 94(11):191–194
- Jaenike, J. (2001). Sex chromosome meiotic drive. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 32(1):25–49, doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.113958
- Jaquiéry, J., Rispe, C., Roze, D., Legeai, F., Le Trionnaire, G., Stoeckel, S., Mieuzet, L., Da Silva, C., Poulain, J., et al. (2013). Masculinization of the X chromosome in the pea aphid. PLoS Genetics 9(8):e1003690, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003690
- Jarne, P., Auld, J. R. (2006). Animals mix it up too: The distribution of self-fertilization among hermaphroditic animals. *Evolution* 60(9):1816–1824, doi:10.1554/06-246.1
- Karp, A., Shield, I. (2008). Bioenergy from plants and the sustainable yield challenge. New Phytologist 179(1):15–32, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02432.x
- Kayserili, M. A., Gerrard, D. T., Tomancak, P., Kalinka, A. T. (2012). An excess of gene expression divergence on the X chromosome in *Drosophila* embryos: Implications for the Faster-X hypothesis. *PLoS Genetics* 8(12):e1003200, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003200

- Kersten, B., Pakull, B., Fladung, M. (2012). Mapping of the sex trait and sequence analysis of two linked genomic regions in *Populus tremuloides. ScienceMed* 3(3):203–210
- Kersten, B., Pakull, B., Groppe, K., Lueneburg, J., Fladung, M. (2014). The sex-linked region in *Populus tremuloides* Turesson 141 corresponds to a pericentromeric region of about two million base pairs on *P. trichocarpa* chromosome 19. *Plant Biology* 16(2):1–8, doi:10.1111/plb.12048
- Kitano, J., Peichel, C. L. (2012). Turnover of sex chromosomes and speciation in fishes. Environmental Biology of Fishes 94(3):549–558, doi:10.1007/s10641-011-9853-8
- Klaas, A. L., Olson, M. S. (2006). Spatial distributions of cytoplasmic types and sex expression in Alaskan populations of *Silene acaulis*. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 167(2):179–189, doi:10.1086/498965
- Kobayashi, Y., Nagahama, Y., Nakamura, M. (2012). Diversity and plasticity of sex determination and differentiation in fishes. *Sexual Development* 7(1-3):115–125, doi:10.1159/000342009
- Koelewijn, H. P., van Damme, J. M. M. (1995). Genetics of male sterility in gynodioecious *Plantago* coronopus. II. Nuclear genetic variation. *Genetics* 139(4):1759–1775
- Kohn, J. R., Barrett, S. C. H. (1994). Pollen discounting and the spread of a selfing variant in tristylous *Eichhornia paniculata*: evidence from experimental populations. *Evolution* 48(5):1576, doi:10.2307/2410249
- Korpelainen, H. (1998). Labile sex expression in plants. *Biological Reviews* 73(2):157–180, doi: 10.1017/s0006323197005148
- Kosswig, C. (1964). Polygenic sex determination. *Experientia* 20(4):190–199, doi:10.1007/ BF02135395
- Köster, J., Rahmann, S. (2012). Snakemake A scalable bioinformatics workflow engine. *Bioinformatics* 28(19):2520–2522, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bts480
- Lahn, B. T., Page, D. C. (1997). Functional coherence of the human Y chromosome. *Science* 278(5338):675–680, doi:10.1126/science.278.5338.675
- Lahn, B. T., Page, D. C. (1999). Four evolutionary strata on the human X chromosome. *Science* 286(10):964–967, doi:10.1126/science.286.5441.964
- Lahn, B. T., Pearson, N. M., Jegalian, K. (2001). The human Y chromosome, in the light of evolution. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2:207–216, doi:10.1038/35056058
- Lande, R. (1985). The fixation of chromosomal rearrangements in a subdivided population with local extinction and colonization. *Heredity* 54:323–332, doi:10.1038/hdy.1985.43
- Lane, N. (2006). *Power, sex, suicide: Mitochondria and the meaning of life*. Oxford University Press, ISBN 978-019-920-564-6
- Lepart, B., Jacques snd Dommée (1992). Is *Phillyrea angustifolia* L. (Oleaceae) an androdioecious species? *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society* 108(4):375–387, doi:10.1111/j.1095-8339. 1992.tb00252.x
- Leskinen, E., Alström-Rapaport, C. (1999). Molecular phylogeny of Salicaceae and closely related Flacourtiaceae: Evidence from 5.8 S, ITS 1 and ITS 2 of the rDNA. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* 215(1):209–227, doi:10.1007/BF00984656
- Lewis, D. (1941). Male sterility in natural populations of hermaphrodite plants. The equilibrium between females and hermaphrodites to be expected with different types of inheritance. *New Phytologist* 40(1):56–63, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1941.tb07028.x
- Lewis, D. (1942). The evolution of sex in flowering plants. *Biological Reviews* 17(1922):47–67, doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.1942.tb00431.x
- Li, S. F., Zhang, G. J., Yuan, J. H., Deng, C. L., Gao, W. J. (2016). Repetitive sequences and epigenetic modification: Inseparable partners play important roles in the evolution of plant sex chromosomes. *Planta* 243(5):1–13, doi:10.1007/s00425-016-2485-7
- Li, Y., Zheng, M., Lau, Y. F. C. (2014). The sex-determining factors SRY and SOX9 regulate similar target genes and promote testis cord formation during testicular differentiation. Cell Reports 8(3):723–733, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.055
- Liew, W. C., Bartfai, R., Lim, Z., Sreenivasan, R., Siegfried, K. R., Orban, L. (2012). Polygenic sex determination system in zebrafish. *PLoS ONE* 7(4):e34397, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034397

- Liu, X., Wang, Z., Wang, D., Zhang, J. (2016). Phylogeny of *Populus-Salix* (Salicaceae) and their relative genera using molecular datasets. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* 68:210–215, doi:10.1016/j.bse.2016.07.016
- Liu, Z., Moore, P. H., Ma, H., Ackerman, C. M., Ragiba, M., Yu, Q., Pearl, H. M., Kim, M. S., Charlton, J. W., et al. (2004). A primitive Y chromosome in papaya marks incipient sex chromosome evolution. *Nature* 427(6972):348–352, doi:10.1038/nature02228
- Llopart, A. (2012). The rapid evolution of X-linked male-biased gene expression and the large-X effect in *Drosophila yakuba*, *D. santomea*, and their hybrids. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 29(12):3873–3886, doi:10.1093/molbev/mss190
- Lloyd, D. G. (1974). Theoretical sex-ratios of dioecious and gynodioecious angiosperms. *Heredity* 32:11–34, doi:10.1038/hdy.1974.2
- Lloyd, D. G. (1975). Breeding systems in *Cotula* III. Dioecious populations. *New Phytologist* 74(1):109–123, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1975.tb01345.x
- Lloyd, D. G. (1980). The distributions of gender in four angiosperm species illustrating two evolutionary pathways to dioecy. *Evolution* 34(1):123–134, doi:10.2307/2408321
- Lloyd, D. G. (1981). The distribution of sex in Myrica gale. Plant Systematics and Evolution 138(1-2):29–45, doi:10.1007/BF00984607
- Manchester, S. R., Judd, W. S., Handley, B. (2006). Foliage and fruits of early Poplars (Salicaceae: *Populus*) from the eocene of Utah, Colorado, and Wyoming. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 167(4):897–908, doi:10.1086/503918
- Mank, J. E., Avise, J. C. (2009). Evolutionary diversity and turn-over of sex determination in teleost fishes. Sexual Development 3(2-3):60–67, doi:10.1159/000223071
- Mank, J. E., Ellegren, H. (2007). Parallel divergence and degradation of the avian W sex chromosome. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22(8):389–391, doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.05.003
- Mank, J. E., Vicoso, B., Berlin, S., Charlesworth, B. (2010). Effective population size and the Faster-X effect: Empirical results and their interpretation. *Evolution* 64(3):663–674, doi:10. 1111/j.1558-5646.2009.00853.x
- Margulies, M., Egholm, M., Altman, W. E., Attiya, S., Bader, J. S., Bemben, L. A., Berka, J., Braverman, M. S., Chen, Y.-J., *et al.* (2005). Genome sequencing in microfabricated highdensity picolitre reactors. *Nature* 437(7057):376–380, doi:10.1038/nature03959
- Martin, A., Troadec, C., Boualem, A., Rajab, M., Fernandez, R., Morin, H., Pitrat, M., Dogimont, C., Bendahmane, A. (2009). A transposon-induced epigenetic change leads to sex determination in melon. *Nature* 461(7267):1135–1138, doi:10.1038/nature08498
- Matessi, C., Saino, N. (2003). Mother's mitochondria and optimal offspring sex ratio. *Theoretical Population Biology* 63(2):147–157, doi:10.1016/S0040-5809(02)00059-X
- Maynard Smith, J. (1978). The evolution of sex. Cambridge University Press, ISBN 052121887X
- McFall-Ngai, M., Hadfield, M. G., Bosch, T. C. G., Carey, H. V., Domazet-Lošo, T., Douglas, A. E., Dubilier, N., Eberl, G., Fukami, T., et al. (2013). Animals in a bacterial world, a new imperative for the life sciences. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 110(9):3229–3236, doi:10.1073/pnas.1218525110
- Meiklejohn, C. D., Tao, Y. (2010). Genetic conflict and sex chromosome evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 25(4):215–223, doi:10.1016/j.tree.2009.10.005
- Meisel, R. P., Connallon, T. (2013). The faster-X effect: Integrating theory and data. *Trends in Genetics* 29(9):537–544, doi:10.1016/j.tig.2013.05.009
- Meisel, R. P., Malone, J. H., Clark, A. G. (2012). Faster-X evolution of gene expression in Drosophila. PLoS Genetics 8(10):e1003013, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003013
- Merchant-Larios, H., Díaz-Hernández, V. (2012). Environmental sex determination mechanisms in reptiles. *Sexual Development* 7(1-3):95–103, doi:10.1159/0003419363
- Mikheyev, A. S., Tin, M. M. Y. (2014). A first look at the Oxford Nanopore MinION sequencer. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 14(6):1097–1102, doi:10.1111/1755-0998.12324
- Ming, R., Bendahmane, A., Renner, S. S. (2011). Sex chromosomes in land plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology 62:485–514, doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103914

- Mirzaghaderi, G., Hörandl, E. (2016). The evolution of meiotic sex and its alternatives. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 283(1838):20161221, doi:10.1098/rspb. 2016.1221
- Mittwoch, U. (2005). Sex determination in mythology and history. Arquivos brasileiros de endocrinologia e metabologia 49(1):7–13, doi:10.1590/S0004-27302005000100003
- Miura, I. (2008). An evolutionary witness: The frog *Rana rugosa* underwent change of heterogametic sex from XY male to ZW female. *Sexual Development* 1(6):323–331, doi:10.1159/ 000111764
- Moghadam, H. K., Pointer, M. A., Wright, A. E., Berlin, S., Mank, J. E. (2012). W chromosome expression responds to female-specific selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 109(21):8207–11, doi:10.1073/pnas.1202721109
- Moore, E. C., Roberts, R. B. (2013). Polygenic sex determination. *Current Biology* 23(12):R510– R512, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2013.04.004
- Moore, G. (1965). Cramming more components onto integrated circuits. *Electronics* 38(8)
- Moran, N. A., McCutcheon, J. P., Nakabachi, A. (2008). Genomics and evolution of heritable bacterial symbionts. *Annual Review of Genetics* 42(1):165–190, doi:10.1146/annurev.genet.41. 110306.130119
- Mrackova, M., Nicolas, M., Hobza, R., Negrutiu, I., Monéger, F., Widmer, A., Vyskot, B., Janousek, B. (2008). Independent origin of sex chromosomes in two species of the genus *Silene*. *Genetics* 179(2):1129–1133, doi:10.1534/genetics.107.085670
- Mulugeta, E., Wassenaar, E., Sleddens-Linkels, E., van IJcken, W. F., Heard, E., Grootegoed, J. A., Just, W., Gribnau, J., Baarends, W. M. (2016). Genomes of *Ellobius* species provide insight into the evolutionary dynamics of mammalian sex chromosomes. *Genome Research* 26:1202–1210, doi:10.1101/gr.201665.115
- Murphy, F., Devlin, G., Mcdonnell, K. (2014). Energy requirements and environmental impacts associated with the production of short rotation willow (*Salix* sp.) chip in Ireland. *Global change biology Bioenergy* 6(6):727–739, doi:10.1111/gcbb.12111
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Hik, D. S. (2012). Uniform female-biased sex ratios in alpine willows. American Journal of Botany 99(7):1243–1248, doi:10.3732/ajb.1200107
- Nagabhushana, A., Mishra, R. K. (2016). Finding clues to the riddle of sex determination in zebrafish. *Journal of Biosciences* 41(1):145–155, doi:10.1007/s12038-016-9593-1
- Natri, H. M., Shikano, T., Merilä, J. (2013). Progressive recombination suppression and differentiation in recently evolved neo-sex chromosomes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 30(5):1131– 1144, doi:10.1093/molbev/mst035
- Naurin, S., Hasselquist, D., Bensch, S., Hansson, B. (2012). Sex-biased gene expression on the avian Z chromosome: Highly expressed genes show higher male-biased expression. *PLoS ONE* 7(10):e46854, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046854
- Neto, J. M., Hansson, B., Hasselquist, D. (2011). Sex allocation in Savi's warblers *Locustella luscinioides*: Multiple factors affect seasonal trends in brood sex ratios. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 65(2):297–304, doi:10.1007/s00265-010-1046-5
- Newton, M. E., Wood, R. J., Southern, D. I. (1976). A cytogenetic analysis of meiotic drive in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti* (L.). *Genetica* 46(3):297–318, doi:10.1007/BF00055473
- Novitski, E. (1947). Genetic analysis of an anomalous sex ratio condition in *Drosophila affinis*. *Genetics* 32(5):526–534
- Otto, S. P. (2009). The evolutionary enigma of sex. *The American Naturalist* 174:S1–S14, doi: 10.1086/599084
- Pailler, T., Humeau, L., Figier, J., Thompson, J. D. (1998). Reproductive trait variation in the functionally dioecious and morphologically heterostylous island endemic *Chassalia corallioides* (Rubiaceae). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 64(3):297–313, doi:10.1111/j. 1095-8312.1998.tb00335.x
- Painter, T. S. (1921). The Y-chromosome in mammals. *Science* 53(1378):503–504, doi:10.1126/ science.53.1378.503

- Pakull, B., Groppe, K., Meyer, M., Markussen, T., Fladung, M. (2009). Genetic linkage mapping in aspen (*Populus tremula L. and Populus tremuloides Michx.*). *Tree Genetics and Genomes* 5(3):505–515, doi:10.1007/s11295-009-0204-2
- Pakull, B., Kersten, B., Lüneburg, J., Fladung, M. (2015). A simple PCR-based marker to determine sex in aspen. *Plant Biology* 17(1):256–261, doi:10.1111/plb.12217
- Pala, I., Hasselquist, D., Bensch, S., Hansson, B. (2012a). Patterns of molecular evolution of an avian neo-sex chromosome. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 29(12):3741–3754, doi:10.1093/ molbev/mss177
- Pala, I., Naurin, S., Stervander, M., Hasselquist, D., Bensch, S., Hansson, B. (2012b). Evidence of a neo-sex chromosome in birds. *Heredity* 108(3):264–272, doi:10.1038/hdy.2011.70
- Pannell, J. R. (2002). The evolution and maintenance of androdioecy. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 33(1):397–425, doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.33.010802.150419
- Pannell, J. R., Voillemot, M. (2015). Plant mating systems Female sterility in the driver's seat. *Current Biology* 25(12):R511–R514, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2015.04.044
- Paolucci, I., Gaudet, M., Jorge, V., Beritognolo, I., Terzoli, S., Kuzminsky, E., Muleo, R., Scarascia Mugnozza, G., Sabatti, M. (2010). Genetic linkage maps of *Populus alba* L. and comparative mapping analysis of sex determination across *Populus* species. *Tree Genetics and Genomes* 6(6):863–875, doi:10.1007/s11295-010-0297-7
- Papadopulos, A. S. T., Chester, M., Ridout, K., Filatov, D. A. (2015). Rapid Y degeneration and dosage compensation in plant sex chromosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 112(42):13021–13026, doi:10.1073/pnas.1508454112
- Perlman, S. J., Hodson, C. N., Hamilton, P. T., Opit, G. P., Gowen, B. E. (2015). Maternal transmission, sex ratio distortion, and mitochondria. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the USA 112(33):10162–10168, doi:10.1073/pnas.1421391112
- Perrin, N. (2016). Random sex determination: When developmental noise tips the sex balance. *BioEssays* In Press, doi:10.1002/bies.201600093
- Petry, W. K., Soule, J. D., Iler, A. M., Chicas-Mosier, A., Inouye, D. W., Miller, T. E. X., Mooney, K. A. (2016). Sex-specific responses to climate change in plants alter population sex ratio and performance. *Science* 353(6294):69–71, doi:10.1126/science.aaf2588
- Pfent, C., Pobursky, K. J., Sather, D. N., Golenberg, E. M. (2005). Characterization of SpA-PETALA3 and SpPISTILLATA, B class floral identity genes in Spinacia oleracea, and their relationship to sexual dimorphism. Development Genes and Evolution 215(3):132–142, doi: 10.1007/s00427-004-0459-4
- Phillips, R. B., Konkol, N. R., Reed, K. M., Stein, J. D. (2001). Chromosome painting supports lack of homology among sex chromosomes in *Oncorhynchus*, *Salmo*, and *Salvelinus* (Salmonidae). *Genetica* 111(1-3):119–123, doi:10.1023/A:1013743431738
- Pipoly, I., Bókony, V., Kirkpatrick, M., Donald, P. F., Székely, T., Liker, A. (2015). The genetic sex-determination system predicts adult sex ratios in tetrapods. *Nature* 527:91–94, doi:10.1038/ nature15380
- Predavec, M., Danell, K. (2001). The role of lemming herbivory in the sex ratio and shoot demography of willow populations. *Oikos* 92:459–466, doi:10.1034/j.1600-0706.2001.920307.x
- Pucholt, P., Rönnberg-Wästljung, A.-C., Berlin, S. (2015a). Single locus sex determination and female heterogamety in the basket willow (*Salix viminalis* L.). *Heredity* 114:575–583, doi:10. 1038/hdy.2014.125
- Pucholt, P., Sjödin, P., Weih, M., Rönnberg-Wästljung, A. C., Berlin, S. (2015b). Genome-wide transcriptional and physiological responses to drought stress in leaves and roots of two willow genotypes. *BMC Plant Biology* 15(244), doi:10.1186/s12870-015-0630-2
- Qiu, S., Bergero, R., Charlesworth, D. (2013). Testing for the footprint of sexually antagonistic polymorphisms in the pseudoautosomal region of a plant sex chromosome pair. *Genetics* 194(3):663–672, doi:10.1534/genetics.113.152397/-/DC1
- Quinn, A. E., Sarre, S. D., Ezaz, T., Marshall Graves, J. A., Georges, A. (2011). Evolutionary transitions between mechanisms of sex determination in vertebrates. *Biology Letters* 7:443–448,

doi:10.1098/rsbl.2010.1126

- Renner, S. S. (2014). The relative and absolute frequencies of angiosperm sexual systems: Dioecy, monoecy, gynodioecy, and an updated online database. *American Journal of Botany* 101(10):1588–1596, doi:10.3732/ajb.1400196
- Renner, S. S. (2016). Pathways for making unisexual flowers and unisexual plants: Moving beyond the "Two mutations linked on one chromosome" model. *American Journal of Botany* 103(4):587–589, doi:10.3732/ajb.1600029
- Renner, S. S., Beenken, L., Grimm, G. W., Kocyan, A., Ricklefs, R. E. (2007). The evolution of dioecy, heterodichogamy, and labile sex expression in *Acer. Evolution* 61(11):2701–2719, doi: 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2007.00221.x
- Rice, W. R. (1984). Sex chromosomes and the evolution of sexual dimorphism. *Evolution* 38(4):735–742, doi:10.2307/2408385
- Rice, W. R. (1987). The accumulation of sexually antagonistic genes as a selective agent promoting the evolution of reduced recombination between primitive sex chromosomes. *Evolution* 41(4):911–914, doi:10.2307/2408899
- Rice, W. R. (1992). Sexually antagonistic genes: experimental evidence. Science 256(5062):1436– 1439, doi:10.1126/science.1604317
- Rice, W. R. (1996). Evolution of the Y sex chromosome in animals. *BioScience* 46(5):331–343, doi:10.2307/1312947
- Robinson-Beers, K., Pruitt, R., Gasser, C. (1992). Ovule development in wild-type *Arabidopsis* and two female-sterile mutants. *The Plant Cell* 4(10):1237–1249, doi:10.1105/tpc.4.10.1237
- Roesti, M., Moser, D., Berner, D. (2013). Recombination in the threespine stickleback genome -Patterns and consequences. *Molecular Ecology* 22(11):3014–3027, doi:10.1111/mec.12322
- Ross, M. T., Grafham, D. V., Coffey, A. J., Scherer, S., McLay, K., Muzny, D., Platzer, M., Howell, G. R., Burrows, C., *et al.* (2005). The DNA sequence of the human X chromosome. *Nature* 434(7031):325–337, doi:10.1038/nature03440
- Sachidanandam, R., Weissman, D., Schmidt, S. C., Kakol, J. M., Stein, L. D., Marth, G., Sherry, S., Mullikin, J. C., Mortimore, B. J., *et al.* (2001). A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. *Nature* 409(6822):928–933, doi:10. 1038/35057149
- Sakai, A. K., Weller, S. G., Chen, M.-L., Chou, S.-Y., Tasanont, C. (1997). Evolution of gynodioecy and maintenance of females: The role of inbreeding depression, outcrossing rates, and resource allocation in *Schiedea adamantis* (Caryophyllaceae). *Evolution* 51(3):724, doi: 10.2307/2411149
- Sánchez Vilas, J., Pannell, J. R. (2014). Plasticity in sex allocation in the plant *Mercurialis annua* is greater for hermaphrodites sampled from dimorphic than from monomorphic populations. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 27(9):1939–1947, doi:10.1111/jeb.12447
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., Coulson, A. R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 74(12):5463–5467, doi:10.1073/ pnas.74.12.5463
- Sather, D. N., Jovanovic, M., Golenberg, E. M. (2010). Functional analysis of B and C class floral organ genes in spinach demonstrates their role in sexual dimorphism. *BMC Plant Biology* 10(46), doi:10.1186/1471-2229-10-46
- Saumitou-Laprade, P., Vernet, P., Vassiliadis, C., Hoareau, Y., de Magny, G., Dommee, B., Lepart, J. (2010). A self-incompatibility system explains high male frequencies in an androdioecious plant. *Science* 327(5973):1648–1650, doi:10.1126/science.1186687
- Schultz, S. T., Ganders, F. R. (1996). Evolution of unisexuality in the hawaiian flora: A test of microevolutionary theory. *Evolution* 50(2):842, doi:10.2307/2410856
- Schwartz, M. A. (2008). The importance of stupidity in scientific research. Journal of Cell Science 121:1771–1771, doi:10.1242/jcs.033340
- Scotti, I., Delph, L. F. (2006). Selective trade-offs and sex-chromosome evolution in *Silene latifolia*. *Evolution* 60(9):1793–1800, doi:10.1111/j.0014-3820.2006.tb00523.x

- Semerikov, V., Lagercrantz, U., Tsarouhas, V., Rönnberg-Wästljung, a., Alström-Rapaport, C., Lascoux, M. (2003). Genetic mapping of sex-linked markers in *Salix viminalis* L. *Heredity* 91(3):293–299, doi:10.1038/sj.hdy.6800327
- Senner, C. E., Brockdorff, N. (2009). Xist gene regulation at the onset of X inactivation. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development 19(2):122–126, doi:10.1016/j.gde.2009.03.003
- Ser, J. R., Roberts, R. B., Kocher, T. D. (2010). Multiple interacting loci control sex determination in Lake Malawi cichlid fish. *Evolution* 64(2):486–501, doi:10.1111/j.1558-5646.2009.00871.x
- Shendure, J., Porreca, G. J., Reppas, N. B., Lin, X., McCutcheon, J. P., Rosenbaum, A. M., Wang, M. D., Zhang, K., Mitra, R. D., *et al.* (2005). Accurate multiplex polony sequencing of an evolved bacterial genome. *Science* 309(5741):1728–1732, doi:10.1126/science.1117389
- Shin, D., Mori, A., Severson, D. W. (2012). Genetic mapping a meiotic driver that causes sex ratio distortion in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Journal of Heredity 103(2):303–307, doi:10.1093/ jhered/esr134
- Sinclair, A. H., Berta, P., Palmer, M. S., Hawkins, J. R., Griffiths, B. L., Smith, M. J., Foster, J. W., Frischauf, A. M., Lovell-Badge, R., *et al.* (1990). A gene from the human sexdetermining region encodes a protein with homology to a conserved DNA-binding motif. *Nature* 346(6281):240–244, doi:10.1038/346240a0
- Sinclair, J. P., Emlen, J., Freeman, D. C. (2012). Biased sex ratios in plants: Theory and trends. *The Botanical Review* 78(1):63–86, doi:10.1007/s12229-011-9065-0
- Skaletsky, H., Kuroda-Kawaguchi, T., Minx, P. J., Cordum, H. S., Hillier, L., Brown, L. G., Repping, S., Pyntikova, T., Ali, J., *et al.* (2003). The male-specific region of the human Y chromosome is a mosaic of discrete sequence classes. *Nature* 423(6942):825–837, doi: 10.1038/nature01722
- Skinner, B. M., Sargent, C. A., Churcher, C., Hunt, T., Herrero, J., Loveland, J. E., Dunn, M., Louzada, S., Fu, B., *et al.* (2016). The pig X and Y chromosomes: structure, sequence, and evolution. *Genome Research* 26:130–139, doi:10.1101/gr.188839.114
- Slancarova, V., Zdanska, J., Janousek, B., Talianova, M., Zschach, C., Zluvova, J., Siroky, J., Kovacova, V., Blavet, H., *et al.* (2013). Evolution of sex determination systems with heterogametic males and females in *Silene. Evolution* 67(12):3669–77, doi:10.1111/evo.12223
- Smith, B. (1963). The mechanism of sex determination in *Rumex hastatulus. Genetics* 48(10):1265–1288
- Smith, B. W. (1964). The evolving karyotype of *Rumex hastatulus*. *Evolution* 18(1):93–104, doi: 10.2307/2406423
- Smith, C. A., Roeszler, K. N., Ohnesorg, T., Cummins, D. M., Farlie, P. G., Doran, T. J., Sinclair, A. H. (2009). The avian Z-linked gene *DMRT1* is required for male sex determination in the chicken. *Nature* 461(7261):267–271, doi:10.1038/nature08298
- Spigler, R. B., Lewers, K. S., Main, D. S., Ashman, T.-L. (2008). Genetic mapping of sex determination in a wild strawberry, *Fragaria virginiana*, reveals earliest form of sex chromosome. *Heredity* 101(6):507–517, doi:10.1038/hdy.2008.100
- Splinter, E., de Wit, E., Nora, E. P., Klous, P., van de Werken, H. J. G., Zhu, Y., Kaaij, L. J. T., van Ijcken, W., Gribnau, J., *et al.* (2011). The inactive X chromosome adopts a unique three-dimensional conformation that is dependent on *Xist* RNA. *Genes and Development* 25(13):1371–1383, doi:10.1101/gad.633311
- Stehlik, I., Blattner, F. R. (2004). Sex-specific SCAR markers in the dioecious plant *Rumex nivalis* (Polygonaceae) and implications for the evolution of sex chromosomes. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108(2):238–242, doi:10.1007/s00122-003-1425-7
- Stehlik, I., Friedman, J., Barrett, S. C. H. (2008). Environmental influence on primary sex ratio in a dioecious plant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 105(31):10847– 10852, doi:10.1073/pnas.0801964105
- Stephens, Z. D., Lee, S. Y., Faghri, F., Campbell, R. H., Zhai, C., Efron, M. J., Iyer, R., Schatz, M. C., Sinha, S., et al. (2015). Big data: Astronomical or genomical? *PLoS Biology* 13(7):1–11, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002195

- Stevens, N. M. (1905). Studies in spermatogenesis with especial reference to the "accessory chromosome". *Carnegie Institution of Washington Publication* 36 pp. 1–33
- Stintzi, A., Browse, J. (2000). The Arabidopsis male-sterile mutant, opr3, lacks the 12oxophytodienoic acid reductase required for jasmonate synthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 97(19):10625–10630, doi:10.1073/pnas.190264497
- Stöck, M., Horn, A., Grossen, C., Lindtke, D., Sermier, R., Betto-Colliard, C., Dufresnes, C., Bonjour, E., Dumas, Z., et al. (2011). Ever-young sex chromosomes in European tree frogs. *PLoS Biology* 9(5):e1001062, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001062
- Straub, T., Gilfillan, G. D., Maier, V. K., Becker, P. B. (2005). The *Drosophila* MSL complex activates the transcription of target genes. *Genes and Development* 19:2284–2288, doi:10.1101/ gad.1343105
- Taylor, D. R. (1994). The genetic basis of sex ratio in *Silene alba* (= *S. latifolia*). *Genetics* 136(2):641–651
- Taylor, D. R. (1999). Genetics of sex ratio variation among natural populations of a dioecious plant. Evolution 53(1):55–62, doi:10.2307/2640919
- Taylor, D. R., Ingvarsson, P. K. (2003). Common features of segregation distortion in plants and animals. *Genetica* 117(1):27–35, doi:10.1023/A:1022308414864
- Telgmann-Rauber, A., Jamsari, A., Kinney, M. S., Pires, J. C., Jung, C. (2007). Genetic and physical maps around the sex-determining *M*-locus of the dioecious plant asparagus. *Molecular Genetics* and Genomics 278(3):221–234, doi:10.1007/s00438-007-0235-z
- Temmel, N. A., Rai, H. S., Cronk, Q. C. (2007). Sequence characterization of the putatively sexlinked Ssu72-like locus in willow and its homologue in poplar. Canadian Journal of Botany 85(11):1092–1097, doi:10.1139/B07-058
- Tennessen, J. A., Govindarajulu, R., Liston, A., Ashman, T.-L. (2016). Homomorphic ZW chromosomes in a wild strawberry show distinctive recombination heterogeneity but a small sexdetermining region. *New Phytologist* 211(4):1412–1423, doi:10.1111/nph.13983
- The Plant List (2013). Version 1.1. Published on the Internet, acessed 2016-08-02, URL http://www.theplantlist.org/
- The Tree of Sex Consortium (2014). Data from: Tree of sex: a database of sexual systems. *Scientific Data* 1:140015, doi:10.1038/sdata.2014.15
- Thomé, O. W., Müller, W. (1886). Flora von Deutschland, Österreich und der Schweiz, in Wort und Bild, für Schule und Haus, volume II. Eugen Köhler, Gera-Untermhaus
- Tsai, C.-C., Shih, H.-C., Ko, Y.-Z., Wang, R.-H., Li, S.-J., Chiang, Y.-C. (2016). Direct LAMP assay without prior DNA purification for sex determination of papaya. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17(10):1630, doi:10.3390/ijms17101630
- Tuskan, G. A., DiFazio, S., Faivre-Rampant, P., Gaudet, M., Harfouche, A., Jorge, V., Labbé, J. L., Ranjan, P., Sabatti, M., *et al.* (2012). The obscure events contributing to the evolution of an incipient sex chromosome in *Populus*: a retrospective working hypothesis. *Tree Genetics and Genomes* 8(3):559–571, doi:10.1007/s11295-012-0495-6
- Tuskan, G. A., DiFazio, S., Jansson, S., Bohlmann, J., Grigoriev, I., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N., Ralph, S., Rombauts, S., *et al.* (2006). The genome of Black Cottonwood, *Populus trichocarpa* (Torr. & Gray). *Science* 313(5793):1596–1604, doi:10.1126/science.1128691
- Ueno, N., Suyama, Y., Seiwa, K. (2007). What makes the sex ratio female-biased in the dioecious tree *Salix sachalinensis? Journal of Ecology* 95(5):951–959, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007. 01269.x
- van Damme, J. M. M., Hundscheid, M. P. J., Ivanovic, S., Koelewijn, H. P. (2004). Multiple CMSrestorer gene polymorphism in gynodioecious *Plantago coronopus*. *Heredity* 93(2):175–181, doi:10.1038/sj.hdy.6800490
- van der Aalst, W., van Hee, K. M. (2004). Workflow management: models, methods, and systems. MIT Press, ISBN 0-26201-189-1
- van Doorn, G. S., Kirkpatrick, M. (2007). Turnover of sex chromosomes induced by sexual conflict. *Nature* 449(7164):909–912, doi:10.1038/nature06178

- van Doorn, G. S., Kirkpatrick, M. (2010). Transitions between male and female heterogamety caused by sex-antagonistic selection. *Genetics* 186(2):629–645, doi:10.1534/genetics.110. 118596
- Verhulst, E. C., Beukeboom, L. W., van de Zande, L. (2010). Maternal control of haplodiploid sex determination in the wasp *Nasonia*. *Science* 328(5978):620–623, doi:10.1126/science.1185805
- Veyrunes, F., Chevret, P., Catalan, J., Castiglia, R., Watson, J., Dobigny, G., Robinson, T. J., Britton-Davidian, J. (2010). A novel sex determination system in a close relative of the house mouse. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 277(1684):1049–1056, doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.1925
- Vicoso, B., Bachtrog, D. (2013). Reversal of an ancient sex chromosome to an autosome in Drosophila. Nature 499(7458):332–5, doi:10.1038/nature12235
- Vicoso, B., Bachtrog, D. (2015). Numerous transitions of sex chromosomes in Diptera. PLoS Biology 13(4):1–22, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002078
- Vicoso, B., Emerson, J. J., Zektser, Y., Mahajan, S., Bachtrog, D. (2013a). Comparative sex chromosome genomics in snakes: Differentiation, evolutionary strata, and lack of global dosage compensation. *PLoS Biology* 11(8):e1001643, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001643
- Vicoso, B., Kaiser, V. B., Bachtrog, D. (2013b). Sex-biased gene expression at homomorphic sex chromosomes in emus and its implication for sex chromosome evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 110(16):6453–8, doi:10.1073/pnas.1217027110
- Walker, G. (2005). Sex determination in the larvae of the parasitic barnacle *Heterosaccus lunatus*: An experimental approach. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 318(1):31– 38, doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2004.12.008
- Wang, J., Na, J.-K., Yu, Q., Gschwend, A. R., Han, J., Zeng, F., Aryal, R., VanBuren, R., Murray, J. E., et al. (2012). Sequencing papaya X and Yh chromosomes reveals molecular basis of incipient sex chromosome evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 109(34):13710–13715, doi:10.1073/pnas.1207833109
- Warner, R. R., Fitch, D. L., Standish, J. D. (1996). Social control of sex change in the shelf limpet, *Crepidula norrisiarum*: Size-specific responses to local group composition. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 204(1-2):155–167, doi:10.1016/0022-0981(96)02582-8
- Waters, P. D., Duffy, B., Frost, C. J., Delbridge, M. L., Graves, J. A. M. (2001). The human Y chromosome derives largely from a single autosomal region added to the sex chromosomes 80-130 million years ago. *Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics* 92:74–79, doi:10.1159/000056872
- Webb, C. J. (1999). Empirical studies: Evolution and maintenance of dimorphic breeding systems. In Geber, M. A., Dawson, T. E., Delph, L. F., eds., *Gender and sexual dimorphism in flowering plants*, pp. 61–95, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, ISBN 978-366-204-287-8
- Webb, C. J., Lloyd, D. G. (1986). The avoidance of interference between the presentation of pollen and stigmas in angiosperms II. Herkogamy. *New Zealand Journal of Botany* 24(1):163–178, doi:10.1080/0028825X.1986.10409726
- Wei, K. H. C., Barbash, D. A. (2015). Never settling down: Frequent changes in sex chromosomes. PLoS Biology 13(4):1–6, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002077
- Weismann, A. (1889). The significance of sexual reproduction in the theory of natural selection. In Poulton, E. B., Schönland, S., A. E. Shipley, eds., *Essays upon heredity and kindred biological* problems, pp. 251–332, Clarendon Press, Oxford
- Wellmer, F., Riechmann, L., Alves-Ferreira, M., Meyerowitz, E. M. (2004). Genome-wide analysis of spatial gene expression in *Arabidopsis* flowers. *The Plant Cell* 16(5):1314–1326, doi:10. 1105/tpc.021741.termination
- Werren, J. H., Baldo, L., Clark, M. E. (2008). Wolbachia: master manipulators of invertebrate biology. Nature Reviews Microbiology 6(10):741–751, doi:10.1038/nrmicro1969
- Westerdahl, H., Bensch, S., Hansson, B., Hasselquist, D., Von Schantz, T. (1997). Sex ratio variation among broods of great reed warblers *Acrocephalus arundinaceus*. *Molecular Ecology* 6:543– 548, doi:10.1046/j.1365-294X.1997.00217.x

- Wetterstrand, K. (2016). DNA Sequencing Costs: Data from the NHGRI Genome Sequencing Program (GSP). Accessed 2016-07-26, URL https://www.genome.gov/sequencingcostsdata/
- White, M. A., Kitano, J., Peichel, C. L. (2015). Purifying selection maintains dosage-sensitive genes during degeneration of the Threespine Stickleback Y chromosome. *Molecular Biology* and Evolution 32(8):1981–1995, doi:10.1093/molbev/msv078
- Wilson, C. A., High, S. K., McCluskey, B. M., Amores, A., Yan, Y.-L., Titus, T. A., Anderson, J. L., Batzel, P., Carvan Ill, M. J., *et al.* (2014). Wild sex in zebrafish: Loss of the natural sex determinant in domesticated strains. *Genetics* 198(3):1291–308, doi:10.1534/genetics.114. 169284
- Wright, A. E., Dean, R., Zimmer, F., Mank, J. E. (2016). How to make a sex chromosome. *Nature Communications* 7:12087, doi:10.1038/ncomms12087
- Wright, A. E., Harrison, P. W., Montgomery, S. H., Pointer, M. A., Mank, J. E. (2014). Independent stratum formation on the avian sex chromosomes reveals inter-chromosomal gene conversion and predominance of purifying selection on the W chromosome. *Evolution* 68(11):3281–3295, doi:10.1111/evo.12493
- Wright, A. E., Moghadam, H. K., Mank, J. E. (2012). Trade-off between selection for dosage compensation and masculinization on the avian Z chromosome. *Genetics* 192(4):1433–1445, doi:10.1534/genetics.112.145102
- Wu, M., Moore, R. C. (2015). The evolutionary tempo of sex chromosome degradation in *Carica papaya*. Journal of Molecular Evolution 80(5-6):265–277, doi:10.1007/s00239-015-9680-1
- Xu, W. J., Wang, B. W., Cui, K. M. (2004). RAPD and SCAR markers linked to sex determination in *Eucommia ulmoides* Oliv. *Euphytica* 136(3):233–238, doi:10.1023/B:EUPH.0000032741. 99885.c4
- Yazdi, H. P., Ellegren, H. (2014). Old but not (so) degenerated slow evolution of largely homomorphic sex chromosomes in ratites. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 31(6):1444–1453, doi:10.1093/molbev/msu101
- Yin, T., DiFazio, S. P., Gunter, L. E., Zhang, X., Sewell, M. M., Woolbright, S. A., Allan, G. J., Kelleher, C. T., Douglas, C. J., *et al.* (2008). Genome structure and emerging evidence of an incipient sex chromosome in *Populus. Genome Research* 18(3):422–430, doi:10.1101/gr.7076308
- Yin, W., Wang, Z., Li, Q., Lian, J.-m., Zhou, Y., Lu, B., Jin, L., Qiu, P.-x., Zhang, P., et al. (2016). Evolutionary trajectories of snake genes and genomes revealed by comparative analyses of fivepacer viper. *Nature Communications* 7:13107, doi:10.1038/ncomms13107
- Yoshida, K., Kitano, J. (2012). The contribution of female meiotic drive to the evolution of neo-sex chromosomes. *Evolution* 66(10):3198–3208, doi:10.1111/j.1558-5646.2012.01681.x
- Yoshida, K., Makino, T., Yamaguchi, K., Shigenobu, S., Hasebe, M., Kawata, M., Kume, M., Mori, S., Peichel, C. L., *et al.* (2014). Sex chromosome turnover contributes to genomic divergence between incipient Stickleback species. *PLoS Genetics* 10(3):e1004223, doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004223
- Yu, Q., Hou, S., Hobza, R., Feltus, F. A., Wang, X., Jin, W., Skelton, R. L., Blas, A., Lemke, C., *et al.* (2007). Chromosomal location and gene paucity of the male specific region on papaya Y chromosome. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 278(2):177–185, doi: 10.1007/s00438-007-0243-z
- Zhou, Q., Bachtrog, D. (2012). Chromosome-wide gene silencing initiates Y degeneration in Drosophila. Current Biology 22(6):522–525, doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.01.057
- Zimmerman, J. K. (1991). Ecological correlates of labile sex expression in the orchid Catasetum viridiflavum. Ecology 72(2):597–608, doi:10.2307/2937200

#### Acknowledgements

I am proud! I am proud of what I accomplished and I am happy that I can present this PhD thesis, demonstrating both to myself and to everybody else, what I am able to achieve with dedication, creativity and hard work.

But a project like this will never be possible without strong support from many people and I want to thank *all past and present colleagues and friends* at the plant biology department and the rest of the biocenter for creating such a nice working environment and for contributing to my thesis in various ways, both directly and indirectly!

First and foremost I was lucky to have *Sofia Berlin* as my main advisor (or Doktormutter, as its called in German). The advantage with being her first PhD student was for sure that she was enthusiastic about my project and was always available to discuss any aspect of it, even during her holidays, if our times of absence did not align. This allowed also for very open discussions and I could always be sure that my opinions matter and thanks to that, the project really felt like mine most of the time. However she also made sure to give clear guidance in case it was needed.

Similarly *Anki Rönnberg-Wästljung*, my "main" co-supervisor deserves a big special thank you! She was always ready to help both on theoretical aspects of the project but especially also with those down to earth problems that arise with large scale greenhouse and field projects where both me and Sofia were sometimes lacking experience (or equipment).

I also thank the two other co-supervisors *Lars Hennig* and *Martin Lascoux*. They gave the project enough freedom to develop and contributed when needed.

The person who probably had most impact on this thesis (and my retained sanity) without formally ever being involved in it was *Lei Liu Conze*. Thank you so much for a fun time, numerous geeky discussions on awk commands, Snakemake problems and R plotting tricks but also for a valued friendship!

It happened more than once that Sofia and me were up in a discussion about where to take the next step and couldn't come to a conclusion what the best option would be. When we then met the next day Sofia might say: "I talked to *Niclas (Kolm)* and he thinks...". And these thoughts were often really helpful and could give a new, outside perspective. Thank you for that, Niclas!

Science needs infrastructure and I am thankful to all those people that made sure that the infrastructure and administration that was required for my work was working mostly flawless. Special thanks for this goes to *Björn Nicander*, *Cecilia Wärdig*, *Lotta Olsson*, *Mona Munther*, *Randi Fredriksen Isberg* (so sad that you passed away so early!), *Urban Pettersson* (alphabetical order) and all the others.

Working successful on this project was only possible since I could rely on all past and present members of the *Salix* research groups for encouragement, practical help in the lab and at the computer and for creating a nice environment at work but also at our frequent group activities. Thank you *Amela Kujovic* (fieldwork, from -10 °C to 30 °C), *Andrés Cortés* (short but interesting time), *Henrik Hallingbäck* (thank you for all statistics help and more), *Ingrid Eriksson* (nothing beats well tested protocols and experience), *Jennifer Petersson* (good company makes labwork more fun and hundreds of DNA extractions bearable), *Margareta Aili* (introduction to the new lab), *Per Sjödin* (get me up to speed with the computational analyses), *Srilaksmy Harikrishnan* (that paper got really nice) and *Tom Martin* (fun guy, in the lab and beyond. And you know what: my extraction protocol does work nicely!) (alphabetical order).

I am glad that I was selected to be part of the first round of the SciLife-Lab bioinformatics advisory program, which complemented the competence of my advisory team with hands-on guidance on practicalities in bioinformatics analyses. Especially the grand meetings were an excellent opportunity to exchange ideas with other PhD students that worked on technically similar but scientifically highly diverse projects. My thanks go to *Björn Nystedt* for establishing the program, "my" advisor *Per Unneberg* for many hours of mentorship and all the participants of the program. Additionally I had the pleasure to work with *Estelle Proux-Wéra* and *Allison Churcher* from the SciLifeLab WABI team on some parts of my project. Thanks for the good collaboration.

For all the good advice and practical help in analyzing sex chromosome divergence data, I want to thank *Alison E. Wright* and *Judith Mank*. Our common paper is a nice bonus to all that I learned from you!

Over the years I was sharing office with many great people who were not part of my research group but were always interested in my work and I enjoyed it very much that we could talk about science, the struggles with it and all the rest. Thank you *David Velázquez*, *Girma Bedada*, *Malin Abrahamsson*, *Selcuk Aslan*, *Ulrike Beuch*, *Yunkai Jin*. I also want to express my large gratitude for discussions about life and research both to *Hanneke*  *Marjolijn Peele* and *Andrea Claes* and also *Shirin Akhter, Emma Larsson, Veronika Nordal, Daniel Uddenberg* deserve a big thank you for support and good talks at different occasions. Also a big thank you goes to those people I had the pleasure to teach with and to organize the SPPS PhD student conference (you know who you are...)!

I also thank *Alexandra Elbakyan* for providing a platform to access scientific literature independent of where you are and if you get a VPN client running on the computer you are just working on. I think scientific literature should not be locked behind pay-walls and while all my publications (up to now) are open access, sci-hub.cc allowed me to access most other articles when the journals would not (e.g. late at night from home).

Ein ganz besonderer Dank gilt natürlich auch meinen *Eltern*, die mich jederzeit unterstützen und die mir genügend Neugierde und Ausdauer mitgegeben haben um in der Wissenschaft erfolgreich zu sein und auch Durststrecken zu überwinden!

Und schließlich gebührt ein ganz großes Dankeschön meiner wunderbaren Sambo *Carina*. Obwohl Du am Anfang nicht wirklich überzeugt warst von dem Gedanken nach Schweden zu ziehen, so hast Du Dich dennoch darauf eingelassen und hast das Land schätzen gelernt und so einen großen Teil zu dieser Doktorarbeit beigetragen. Danke für alle Unterstützung und Verständnis! Ich liebe Dich!

Thanks a lot everyone!

P.S. I know, you read the acknowledgment first. *We all do!* But I made sure that the rest of the thesis is worth reading as well; Give it a try if you ever wondered about who discovered the Y chromosome or how high population density leads to more females (in a plant species). I really think that also the results from my studies and the methods we used are relevant for a large audience and of course worth reading.